

Copyright Undertaking

This thesis is protected by copyright, with all rights reserved.

By reading and using the thesis, the reader understands and agrees to the following terms:

- 1. The reader will abide by the rules and legal ordinances governing copyright regarding the use of the thesis.
- 2. The reader will use the thesis for the purpose of research or private study only and not for distribution or further reproduction or any other purpose.
- 3. The reader agrees to indemnify and hold the University harmless from and against any loss, damage, cost, liability or expenses arising from copyright infringement or unauthorized usage.

IMPORTANT

If you have reasons to believe that any materials in this thesis are deemed not suitable to be distributed in this form, or a copyright owner having difficulty with the material being included in our database, please contact lbsys@polyu.edu.hk providing details. The Library will look into your claim and consider taking remedial action upon receipt of the written requests.

Pao Yue-kong Library, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

http://www.lib.polyu.edu.hk

NEUROMODULATORY EFFECTS OF ULTRASOUND STIMULATION ON CERVICAL CORD INJURED RATS

RAKIB UDDIN AHMED

PhD The Hong Kong Polytechnic University 2021 The Hong Kong Polytechnic University Department of Biomedical Engineering

NEUROMODULATORY EFFECTS OF ULTRASOUND STIMULATION ON CERVICAL CORD INJURED RATS

Rakib Uddin AHMED

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy September 2020

Certificate of originality

I hereby declare that this thesis is my own work and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it reproduces no material previously published or written, nor material that has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma, except where due acknowledgment has been, made in the text.

----- (signed)

Rakib Uddin Ahmed (Name of student)

Abstract

Spinal cord injury is a devastating neurological condition that affects millions of people worldwide each year. Several neuromodulatory approaches have been applied to restore the function of injured individual, among which neuromodulation therapy has shown most promising results, so far. There is, however, some limitations persist with electrical neuromodulation therapies. Invasive method of spinal cord neuromodulation requires surgeries while non-invasive method shows limited improvements to restore hand function. However, the mechanism is yet unknown. In addition to the electrical and magnetic stimulation, therapeutic effect of ultrasound stimulation on neurons has recently been explored. The non-invasive therapeutic effect of low-intensity pulsed ultrasound is a novel approach that can modulate the neuronal function following a traumatic injury in brain and peripheral nerve. Because of the safety and efficacy low-intensity pulsed ultrasound stimulation has shown promising results in neurorehabilitation. The objective of this thesis was to investigate potential functional effects with ultrasound stimulation in chronic cervical spinal cord injured animal models via behavioural and electrophysiological studies. It was found that, the forelimb reaching and grasping success rate was higher during low-intensity pulsed ultrasound stimulation than without stimulation in rats with cervical cord injury. Furthermore, the rats showed higher grip forces in ultrasound stimulation group compared to the control group. However, the effect is not enough to restore the full forelimb function. Hence, a combinatory neuromodulatory approach was conducted to restore the hand function in cervical cord injured rats. First, a serotonergic agonist drug (Buspirone) with different doses was administered intraperitoneally to find out an optimum dose. The result showed that low doses of serotonergic agonist significant

improved forelimb function in rats over high to medium dose group rats. After finding the optimum dose, a combinatory neuromodulatory approach- ultrasound and drug-based treatment was provided to the injured rats and compared to the only stimulation and control groups. The combination group of rats has shown the consistent recovery in the forelimb reaching and grasping task over the control group of rats indicated the potential of the approach. This thesis summarizes the therapeutic effects of low-intensity pulsed ultrasound and serotonergic against neuromodulation on forelimb functional recovery including reaching and grasping after cervical spinal cord injury, and offers a clinical translation of a novel non-invasive neuromodulation therapy for the paralyzed.

PUBLICATIONS ARISING FROM THE THESIS

Peer-reviewed journal articles

- Ahmed, R. U., Alam, M., & Zheng, Y. P. (2019). Experimental spinal cord injury and behavioral tests in laboratory rats. *Heliyon*, 5(3), e01324. DOI: 10.1016/j.heliyon. 2019.e01324.
- Ahmed, R. U., Edgerton, V.R., Li, S., Zheng, Y. P., Alam, M. Buspirone doseresponse on forelimb functional recovery in cervical spinal cord injured rats. (Under review).
- Ahmed, R. U., Alam, M., Li, S., & Zheng, Y. P. A novel combinatory approach ultrasound neuromodulation along with drug to restore the functions in cervical cord injured rats. (*In preparation*).

Conference proceedings

- Ahmed, R. U., Alam, M., Li, S., & Zheng, Y. P. Ultrasound neuromodulation to restore the functions in cervical cord injured rats. International Neuromodulation Society's 14th World Congress, Sydney, Australia, 2019. DOI: 10.1111/ner.12958.
- Ahmed, R. U., Edgerton, V.R., Li, S., Zhong, H., & Zheng, Y. P., Alam, M. Buspirone dose-response on forelimb functional recovery in cervical spinal cord injured rats. American Society for Experimental Neurotherapeutics 22nd Annual Meeting, Bethesda, MD, USA, 2020. DOI: 10.1007/s13311-020-00896-5.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Alhamdulillah, at first I would like to thanks the Almighty Allah, the supreme ruler of this universe for his blessings and kindness during my study period.

I would like to thank my supervisor Professor Yong-Ping Zheng, for his continuous support during my study period. Throughout my Ph.D. study his comments and suggestions helped me to think more intensely about my research work. It is my pleasure to work under his supervision. I would also like to offer deepest sense of gratitude and best regards to Dr. Monzurul Alam for being my co-supervisor. It was an amazing experience to work under his constructive and effective supervision throughout the period. It would not be possible for me to complete the research work without his guidance.

I would also like to express many thanks to Professor V. Reggie Edgerton from the University of California, Los Angeles for his constructive comments during the drug study period. I also like to sincerely acknowledge Dr. Hui Zhong from the University of California, Los Angeles for her help during her visits to PolyU. The surgical procedure and techniques that I have learned from her were invaluable. I also like to thanks my colleagues Mr. Shuai Li and Mrs. Poornima Palanisamy for their kind help.

I would like to thank my parents for their blessings and encouragement throughout my study. It would never be possible without their dedication. Moreover, I would like to thank my elder brother and sister for continuously supporting me. Last but not least I would like to acknowledge my wife for her mental support and encouragement of last one year of staying in Hong Kong. Thank you, my dear wife, for giving me so many enjoyable moments.

Finally, I also like to thank the Hong Kong Innovation and Technology Fund (ITS/276/17), Hong Kong Research Grant Council (T13-402/17-N) and Telefield Charitable Fund (ZH3V) for supporting the research study.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Certificate of	of originalityiii
Abstract	iv
Publications	s arising from the thesis vi
Acknowledg	gments vii
Table of Co	ntentsix-x
List of Figure	res xi-xiii
Chapter 1	Background
	1.1.1 Anatomy and physiology of spinal cord (SC)2
	1.1.2 Types of spinal cord injury
	1.1.3 Pathophysiological events after spinal cord injury5
	1.1.4 Complications after SCI
	1.2 Rat model for SCI6
	1.2.1 Injury models
	1.2.2 Compression model8
	1.2.3 Contusion model10
	1.2.4 Transection model11
	1.2.5 Selection of an optimum injury model SCI13
	1.2.6 Behavioral examinations15
	1.2.7 Motor test17
	1.2.8 Skilled forelimb reaching task
	1.2.9 IBB scale for forelimb function
	1.2.10 Limb grip strength test
	1.3 Strategies for SCI renair
	1.3.1 Cell transplantation and neurotrophic factor
	1.3.2 Immunomodulation
	1.3.3 Neuromodulatory approaches
	i. Electrical
	ii. Magnetoelectric
	iii. Novel approach therapeutic ultrasound.
	1.4 Future perspectives
Chapter 2	Aims and objectives32
	2.1 Rationale of the current study32
	2.2 Research hypothesis33
Chapter 3	Ultrasound neuromodulation in injured spinal cord
	3.1 Therapeutic ultrasound34
	3.2 Effects of ultrasound on central nervous system
	3.3 Effects of ultrasound on peripheral nerve37
	3.4 Experimental subjects
	3.5 Experimental design38

	3.6 Pre-injury success rate40
	3.7 SCI surgery41
	3.8 Preparation of ultrasound discs for implant43
	3.9 Mounting the connector and placing the ultrasound probe44
	3.10 EMG electrodes implantation45
	3.11 Post-surgery care
	3.12 Ultrasound stimulation parameters
	3.13 Ultrasound intensity measurement46
	3.14 Data analysis and statistics
	3.15 Results
	3.15.1 Pre-injury vs post-injury success rate
	3.15.2 LIPUS can facilitate the forelimb reaching and grasping task
	3.15.3 Role of LIPUS in grip force
	3.15.4 EMG activity
	3.16 Summary and discussion
Chapter 4	Serotonergic neuromodulation in injured spinal cord
-	4.1 Introduction
	4.2 Experimental design63
	4.3 Drug treatments
	4.4 Results
	4.5 Summary and discussion73
Chapter 5	Ultrasound and drug-based combinatory neuromodulation therapy
_	for SCI recovery77
	5.1 Introduction77
	5.2 Experimental design78
	5.3 US stimulation and drug treatment80
	5.4 Results80
	5.5 Discussion

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig.1: Anatomy and physiology of spinal cord. a) Schematic view of the human spinal cord; b) cross-section view; and c) location of human ascending and descending tracts
Fig.2: Spinal cord injury level a) Different level of injury in patient4
Fig. 3. Pathological events after complete and incomplete SCI
Fig. 4: Overall experimental approach of developing a translational therapy for SCI.SCI is induced in a rat
Fig. 5: Different injury models in rats' spinal cord 10
Fig. 6: Schematic representation of forelimb muscles in relation to cervical spinalcord A) shoulder and arm muscles
Fig. 7: A typical schedule for skilled forelimb reaching tasks. The first week is essential for animal handling, apparatus habituation and food familiarization for the rats
Fig. 8: Skilled forelimb reaching task for a laboratory rat . A) A special Plexiglas chamber is designed to evaluate the forelimb reaching task
Fig.9: Strategical approaches following SCI. The recovery approaches from SCI
Fig. 10: Electrical neuromodulation. A) Invasive stimulation including epidural and intraspinal stimulation.
Fig. 11: Proposed mechanism of the neuronal membrane and ion channel alteration during a low-intensity ultrasound stimulation . A) Resting condition of neuronal membrane
Fig. 12: Experimental setup. 25 rats were trained for six weeks for forelimb reaching and grasping tasks. After familiarization, skilled learning and accustom to the task
Fig. 13: Food pellet chamber ; A) Special Plexiglas chamber for reaching and grasping
task; B) Small pit for food pellet40
task; B) Small pit for food pellet40Fig. 14: Reaching and grasping learning curve of intact rats41

Fig. 16: Ultrasound stimulation probe; a) A piezoelectric element was coated with silicone and connected
Fig. 17: Ultrasound stimulation parameter. A custom made ultrasound probe with an acoustic frequency of 1 MHz, 20% duty cycle
Fig. 18: Ultrasound intensity measurement in a water tank . a) In a water tank, a hydrophone was placed front side
Fig. 19: <i>Ex-vivo</i> setup to measure the ultrasound intensity inside the vertebral canal(10 mm diameter probe
Fig. 20: Pre-injury and post-injury success rates of forelimb reaching and grasping tasks
Fig. 21: Average success rates (mean ±SEM; US, n=10 and control, n=9) of reaching and grasping tasks in US and control group rats
Fig. 22: Raw EMG signals from a) extensor digitorum and b) flexor digitorum muscles during the forelimb reaching
Fig. 23. Normalized area-under-the-curve (AUC) of EMG signals from extensor digitorum and flexor digitorum muscles of US group rats during single pellet reaching task
Fig. 24: Comparison of (mean ± SEM) AUC values of extensor and flexor muscles EMG at week-1 and 6 during reaching and grasping task
Fig. 25: Normalized grip force. Data are presented as mean and SEM (US group, n=6; and Control group
Fig. 26: Average (Mean ± SEM, n=5) maximum grip strength pre-, with- and post- ultrasound stimulation. The grip force value was calculated
Fig. 27: Reaching and grasping the learning curve of intact rats (n=17). Significant differences
Fig. 28: Experimental design. Seventeen rats were trained to reach and grasp the pellet for 6 weeks
Fig. 29: Pre-injury vs post-injury success rate. After the injury, the success rate dropped significantly
Fig. 30: Reaching and grasping scores of three different groups after Buspirone administration
Fig. 31: Effects of different dosages of Buspirone on forelimb a) Extensor digitorum and

Fig. 32: Normalized AUC value of distal muscles. Normalized area-under-the-curve(AUC) of a) extensor
Fig. 33: Maximum grip force of three different groups after Buspirone administration . a) Mean (±SEM) maximum grip force of Group A rats70
Fig. 34: Normalized success rate vs. normalized grip force at different post-injury weeks
Fig. 35: Experimental setup. 24 rats were trained for six weeks for forelimb reaching and grasping. 77
Fig. 36: Reaching and grasping the learning curve of intact rats
Fig. 37: Average success rates (mean ±SEM; US, n=6, combined, n=4 and control,n=5) of reaching
Fig. 38: Raw EMG signals from extensor muscle at a) 1-week of post-injury and b) 5-weeks of post-injury
Fig. 39: Raw EMG signals from flexor muscle at a) 1-week of post-injury and b) 5-weeks of post-injury from three rats are presented
Fig. 40: Normalized area-under-the-curve (AUC) of EMG signals from A) extensor
digitorum
Fig. 41: Maximum grip force of three different groups (mean ±SEM; US, n=6,
combined, n=7 and control, n=5)
Fig. 42: Comparison of US (during), Buspirone (during) and Combination (during)
group of rats forelimb reaching and grasping task success rate

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT)

Analysis of variance (ANOVA)

Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF)

Corticospinal tract (CST)

Electromagnetic Spinal Cord Injury Device (ESCID)

High intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU)

Infinite Horizon (IH)

Irvine, Beatties and Bresnahan (IBB)

Low-intensity pulsed ultrasound (LIPUS)

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs)

Multicenter Animal Spinal Injury Study (MASCIS)

Pulse Repetition Frequency (PRF)

Spinal cord injury (SCI)

Spatial-peak temporal-average intensity (ISPTA)

Ultrasound (US)

Chapter 1: Background

The work described in this chapter has been published (Ahmed et al. Heliyon. 2019).

1.1 Introduction

Traumatic spinal cord injury (SCI) is a devastating neuronal dysfunction that affects a large number of people worldwide. Though the exact prevalence of SCI is unknown, it is estimated that every year a significant number of people get involved with this injury. In the United States approximately 17,000 new cases are recorded each year that is around 54 cases per million of their population (NSCISC 2016) while in China around 60,000 new cases of SCI are reported each year caused by vehicle crash, construction works, mining and other accidents (Qiu 2009).

In addition, bullet wounds or other form of violence (26%), sports accidents (7%) and falls from high land (22%) are major causes of SCI in USA.(DeVivo et al 2002). Incidence and prevalence of SCI varies worldwide and no exact information can be found (Singh et al 2014). It has been reported that in Australia, the incidence is 16 cases, and in western Europe 15 cases per million individuals (Cripps et al 2011). Traumatic SCI most commonly occurs in male (79.8%) compare to female (20.2%) (Chen et al 2016). While the average age range for SCI lies between 15 to 30 years. However, for older population (but less than 50 to 60 years) the incidence rate also increased from 4.6% in 1970 to 13.2% in 2008 indicates that incidence of SCI is rising (Devivo 2012, DeVivo & Chen 2011, van den Berg et al 2010). Following SCI, the patients and their families face considerable physical, social and financial problems. It has been estimated that approximately US\$1.1-4.6 million per patient are spent over their lifetime (Rankin et al 2017). The injury affects spinal cord

functions completely or incompletely by impairing motor, sensory and autonomic reflexes. There is no cure for SCI at the moment (Heselmans 2020). However, there are several approaches including cell treatment, neurostimulation, pharmacological modulation and rehabilitative strategies have been carried out to find a possible solution for SCI patients (Alam et al 2017, Assinck et al 2017, Edgerton & Roy 2012). Although epidural stimulation method showed significant improvement in SCI patients (Angeli et al 2018, Angeli et al 2014, Harkema et al 2011) this invasive method requires major surgeries.

1.1.1 Anatomy and physiology of spinal cord

Spinal cord is a cylindrical structure that begins from the foramen magnum of the skull and run through the vertebral canal. In human, it terminates at the lower border of the lumbar vertebra (**Fig. 1a**). Three membranes cover the spinal cord; the dura mater, arachnoid mater and pia mater. Within the subarachnoid space, cerebrospinal fluid surrounds the spinal cord.

Spinal cord is composed of an inner core of gray matter which is surrounded by white matter. Gray matter contains mainly cell bodies, axon and dendrite terminals, interneurons and glial cells. In sagittal section, gray matter is an "H" shaped structure and divided into dorsal horn (left and right), intermediate grey, ventral horn (left and right) (**Fig. 1b**).



Fig. 1: **Anatomy and physiology of spinal cord. a**) Schematic view of the human spinal cord; **b**) cross-section view; and **c**) location of human ascending and descending tracts (S= sensory and M=motor tracts); **d**) transmissions of neural impulse through the sensory and motor neuronal fiber. Reprinted from (Halterman 2005, Thuret et al 2006, Watson & Kayalioglu 2009).

White matter is composed of mainly myelinated axons which contain two different tractsascending and descending tracts. Sensory information transmits to the central nervous system through the ascending tracts. It mainly carries information related to the pressure, vibration, movement and proprioception. Descending tracts originate from the cortical areas of brain (**Fig. 1c**). Different motor activities such as locomotion, posture, balance, muscle tenacity are carried out through these tracts. Spinal sensory neuron from dorsal horn leaves through the intervertebral foramen and enter into the dorsal root ganglion which is comprised of cell bodies of pseudounipolar neurons. Similarly, ventral root leaves from ventral horn of the spinal cord and carry neuronal motor fibers (**Fig. 1d**). Distal to the ganglion dorsal and ventral roots join to form a spinal nerve that later forms peripheral nerves (Arthur J. Vander 2001).

1.1.2 Types of spinal cord injury

The levels and types of injury depend on the location and severity of the neural circuits being damaged due to the injury. It can be broadly categorized as incomplete or complete lower-limb paralysis (paraplegia), or both limb paralysis (quadriplegia). Incomplete injury involves partial severed spinal cord with the injured persons retaining some functions. While in complete injury, the spinal cord is completely severed (in clinical measures) and no neurological function present below the level of injury (**Fig. 2a**). However, it was found that most clinically complete SCI patients residue some or few anatomical connections across the lesion (Awad et al 2015), and thus possess the potentials for future recovery via neuroplasticity (Alam et al 2016).



Fig. 2: Spinal cord injury level a) Different level of injury in patient. Injury at higher cervical level can lead to difficulty including breathing, coughing, speaking and all limb paralysis. The lower level of injuries results lower limb paralysis, bladder and bowel dysfunctions and other complicated issues. Adapted from (Alam et al 2016). **b**) SCI fact sheet; Adapted from National SCI statistical center, 2017.

According to the National Spinal Cord Injury and Statistical center (Patel et al 2017), incomplete injuries are more frequent condition than the complete injuries (**Fig. 2b**). At the cervical level incidence is higher around 60%, while at thoracic and lumbosacral level the injury is respectively 32% and 9% (Chen et al 2016).

1.1.3 Pathophysiological events after SCI

Traumatic injury events are categorized into two major groups- primary and secondary injury. Initiation of primary injury event occurs following a mechanical trauma, dislocation and disruption of the vertebral column that causes compression and/or transection of the spinal cord. Consequently, the blood-brain barrier disrupts and results in immediate neuronal death.



Fig 3: **Pathological events after complete and incomplete spinal cord injury**. The injured spinal cord lesion includes three distinct areas- **i**) a central fluid-filled cavity (gray color), **ii**) an outer glial scar lesion that is composed of astrocytes, macrophages and oligodendrocytes (red border) and **iii**) outer spared neuron, some of them are functional and have the capacity to regenerate. Adapted from (McCanney et al 2017).

Following mechanical injury leads to several biological and biochemical events that elucidate the damage of the spinal cord and termed as a secondary event. It includes several events such as- hemorrhage, reactive cell infiltration, alteration of cell membrane permeability, glutamate excitotoxicity, free radical production, lipid peroxidation, cytokine production, ion-channel modulation, apoptosis and later glial scar formation (**Fig. 3**) (Liu et al 2011, Mautes et al 2000, Obrenovitch & Urenjak 1997). The events occur over time from days to months, and further neurological damages took place and carry into the chronic phase (>1 year) (Maynard et al 1979).

1.1.4 Complications after SCI

SCI patients suffer acute and chronic medical complications. Common complications related to their daily activities such as – bladder and bowel dysfunction, muscle spasticity, pain, pressure sores, temperature regulation and other psychological problems. Compared to other complications, bladder and bowel dysfunction are the most common sequelae after a SCI. Two patterns of neural bowel dysfunction are normally reported after SCI- upper and lower motor neuron bowel dysfunction. Upper motor neuron bowel dysfunction results from the injury at the sacral level and lower motor neuron bowel dysfunction from the sacral spinal cord roots or peripheral nerve innervation (Stiens et al 1997). Lower motor neuron dysfunction is associated with constipation, hemorrhoids and abdominal distension (Coggrave et al 2009). Complete SCI patients develop muscle spasticity because of disconnection from the upper motor neuron which results in the flaccidity of muscle. Patients often develop infections because of not fully completion of bladder expression. Furthermore, atrophy of muscles is also a common sequela of complete SCI. For atrophy, lower limb muscles are most affected due to the loss of contractile protein early after SCI (Castro et al 1999).

1.2 Rat model for SCI

Spinal cord injury (SCI) is responsible for damaging the sensory, motor and autonomic functions of an individual (Kjell & Olson 2016). To address this for developing and testing therapies, over the past few decades animals have been used (Zhang et al 2014). Both large and small animal models are commonly used to study the injury mechanism and to assess the therapeutic outcomes after a controlled SCI in laboratory settings (Cheriyan et al 2014). Large animals, especially dogs and cats were used in the early 1950s to1970s (Kwon et al 2015). Afterward, rodent models became popular and were then standardized as a suitable animal model for SCI experiments. In rodent models, rats and mice are mostly used to evaluate the functional and morphological changes after SCI (Metz et al 2000, Sharif-Alhoseini et al 2017, van den Brand et al 2012). However, in the mouse model, following a SCI, evidence suggests that a modest degree of regeneration occurs in the injured area and no typical cyst-like structure is formed, while such type of axonal regeneration is not found in rat and non-human primates (Kjell & Olson 2016). In contrast, after an injury in rats, a large fluid-filled cystic cavity is formed which is similar to the human pathology after SCI and thus useful for preclinical studies (Lee & Lee 2013). Rats are quickly adaptive to the experimental environments and the given tasks for sensorimotor evaluations. Furthermore, high availability, low infection rate after surgery, and ease of maintenance make the rat a prime candidate for translational research. Based on the above, laboratory rats are now widely used as experimental SCI models.

Spinal cord injury ——	Therapeutic	→ Behavioral	→ Histological examination
-Compression -Contusion -Transection	mervention	of recovery	C. and the second se

Fig 4: Overall experimental approach of developing a translational therapy for SCI. SCI is induced in a rat via one of the three commonly applied techniques: compression, contusion and transection. After experimental injury, several therapeutic interventions are used to regenerate the damaged neuronal pathways. To assess the functional recovery, several behavioral tests are performed based on the injury level and finally, histological examination is performed to find out the anatomical changes.

In this translational research, several rat injury models were developed to examine the neurophysiological responses after a SCI. Numerous approaches are being applied to regenerate the damaged axon across the lesioned area and confirmed immunohistochemically and by protein analysis (Olson 2013). Furthermore, apart from histological analysis, behavioral responses are also studied as a primary measure to assess the recovery of spinal pathways (**Fig 4**).

1.2.1 Injury models

Experimental injury models are designed to explore the physiological changes after SCI to evaluate the treatments to repair the broken spinal cord. Laboratory rats are commonly used to evaluate neural repair after an experimental SCI. Although some SCI experiments have been conducted in non-human primates, more demanding protocols, critical manpower, health safety and a large amount of investment in the experimental setup and management make the primate model much more difficult and less used than rat injury models (Sharif-Alhoseini & Rahimi-Movaghar 2014). In rat SCI experiments, three different injury models

are widely utilized: compression, contusion and transection models. Among these, contusion and compression are the most common types of injury found in humans. Hence, to evaluate the neuronal changes and behavioral outcomes, these models are essential (Sharif-Alhoseini et al 2017).

1.2.2 Compression model

In humans, flexion and axial compression (burst fracture) are responsible for displacing bone fragments into the vertebral canal and consequently SCI occurs. However, the timing of compression can affect the outcome of pathology (Abdullahi et al 2017). To address this problem, in rats the same model of injury is carried out to create persistent spinal canal occlusion that is similar to human acute SCI. This injury is varied at different levels of the spinal cord. For example, at lumbar level, compression injury impairs the ejaculation reflex in male rats (Kozyrev et al 2016). There are several ways to create a compression model for rats such as calibrated forcep compression, clip compression and baloon compression (Abdullahi et al 2017). However, the clip compression model at the thoracic level is much more correlated with the functional and histological outcome (Poon et al 2007).



Fig 5: Different injury models in rats' spinal cord. In the compression model a clip is used to initiate the injury. For the contusion model of injury an impactor is dropped from a predefined distance. In the transection model of injury, a surgical blade is used to carry out different types of transection injury. Modified from (Walker & Xu 2012).

The acute clip compression model is the first non-transection model that was developed in 1978 (Rivlin & Tator 1978) and is widely used for experimental injury in rats. It is an inexpensive method where a special clip is used to compress the spinal cord (Tator & Poon 2009). Under inhalation anesthesia, a laminectomy is performed at a desired level of the spine by retracting muscles and removing the spinous process and body of vertebrae. A modified aneurysm clip (**Fig 5**) is then inserted extradurally and maintained for 60 sec and then the clip is removed to produce an acute injury (Moonen et al 2016). Muscles and connective tissues are then sutured, and the skin is closed. The injury model is useful to

study the minimal loss of neurons after a SCI. Moreover, for secondary injury mechanism the model is also useful (Sun et al 2017).

1.2.3 Contusion model

In humans, compression injury is caused by mainly falls from a height or by a physical impactor that crushes the spinal vertebral column which further leads the bony parts to compress the spinal cord (Kjell & Olson 2016). In rats, to get the same type of injury, the contusion model is probably the most suitable method (Young 2002). Among the several anatomical locations, in thoracic position contusion injury is commonly used to evaluate the forward and backward locomotion as well as recovery of the spinal tract (van Gorp et al 2014). Usually, the injury is induced by an impactor which is used to drop a 10-gm rod onto the spinal cord (Young 2009). Several impactors are available worldwide to serve this purpose. In Multicenter Animal Spinal Injury Study (MASCIS), the New York university impactor, Infinite Horizon (IH) impactor and Ohio State University Electromagnetic Spinal Cord Injury Device (ESCID) are most commonly used. In MASCIS, a 10-gm computercontrolled load is used to induce a SCI in rats (Gruner 1992). After laminectomy, at a desired spinal level, muscles and spinous process are removed according to the diameter (usually 2.5 mm) of the impactor (Fig 5). Height of the impactor, drop weight and time are previously set up on a computer before initiation of the injury. After the injury, subdural hemorrhage is commonly found which is later washed with saline (Young 2009). Finally, muscles and skin are sutured. Another reliable commercially available impactor is Infinite Horizon (IH) which is also used to produce SCI rat models. System software is implemented to apply impactor force to the spinal cord. This injury renders an ideal model of SCI by reducing the variability among other existing devices (Scheff et al 2003).

1.2.4 Transection model

The transection model of injury is the most widely utilized method that can give the information of desired neural tracts at different spinal level after injury. To investigate the neuronal and functional improvements after different transplantation therapies, transection models of SCI are commonly used (Lukovic et al 2015). This injury model is quite stable and assessment can be performed within four weeks of the injury (Wang et al 2014). The spinal cord transection model is also useful to evaluate axonal regeneration and behavioral responses after SCI (Flores-Leal et al 2017). Transection injury cannot produce any condition similar to contusion injury. However, this injury is useful to investigate the damaged tract recovery after experimental therapies. Two main transection models (complete and incomplete) are used in rats. In the incomplete transection model (often called hemisection model), different portions of spinal cord are cut such as lateral hemisection, dorsal hemisection and dorsal funiculus crush to carry out different experiments. However, incomplete surgical transections are not considered relevant to human SCI (Steward & Willenberg 2017). A complete injury requires a complete transection of the spinal cord including both ascending and descending tracts. To carry out a complete transection injury after laminectomy, microdissection scissors are inserted to cut the spinal cord at a desired level and depth. After an injury gelfoam is inserted into the transection site to minimize the bleeding and to confirm the separation of the spinal cord. After some complete transections ventral parts of the axons may be spared, which is responsible for some residual motor function of the hindlimb (Shah et al 2012). For an incomplete transection injury iridectomy scissors are used to cut both the dorsal and ventral columns of the spinal cord from lateral to the midline by closing the tip of the scissors

(Arvanian et al 2009). Muscles and skin incision are then sutured, and the rat is examined for therapeutic approaches and behavioral tests after recovery. Complete and incomplete transection injuries are not very similar to the clinical SCI of humans; they are rather utilized for neuroscience and neurology research to study the neuronal circuits and pathways (Steward & Willenberg 2017).

Transection injury can give information on both ascending and descending tract functions which is useful in neuroscience research (Sharif-Alhoseini et al 2017). Compared to other injury models there is no need for a special device to transect the spinal cord. Before transecting the spinal cord, it is essential to understand the neurophysiology of the different anatomical structures of the nervous system. A complete transection injury event involves the dissection of both ascending and descending tracts (Cregg et al. 2014). Special care should be taken for the pain management and urinary bladder management after a complete transection. To study specific spinal tract activity such as dorsal and dorsolateral corticospinal tract (CST), an incomplete transection (or hemisection) injury can be applied. After therapeutic interventions, this injury can also provide information regarding axonal tract regeneration. The hemisection model of injury is suitable at the level of cervical region CST which is responsible for forelimb reaching tasks. To regenerate axonal tracts for translational research after any therapeutic approach or cell transplantation, the transection model of injury can be a choice for experiments (Bregman et al 2002). However, the transection injury model is unable to study the secondary injury mechanism.

1.2.5 Selection of an optimum injury model

Pathological and behavioral functions that alter after a SCI depend on the site and type of the injury. A correct injury model can give a proper understanding of the system and the cellular-level changes after a SCI. Furthermore, an experimental SCI model is necessary to evaluate the safety and reliability of a new therapeutic intervention before translating it to humans (Schwab & Bartholdi 1996). Every injury model has advantages and disadvantages over other models. Some selection criteria (listed in **Table 1**) are necessary to select the most optimum one for a specific study.

Contusion	Compression	Transection	
• The model is useful for	• Simple and reliable	• To study specific	
neuroprotective	method (Marques et al	pathway function and	
mechanism study (Pinzon	2009).	regeneration (Lukovic et	
et al 2008).	• Less invasive method	al 2015).	
• Ideal injury model for	(Abdullahi et al 2017).	• Easy to trace the axonal	
studying pathology and	• Useful for cell	tract (Lukovic et al 2015).	
secondary injury	transplantation therapy	• Precise control over the	
mechanism (Sharif-	• Suitable model for	injury.	
Alhoseini et al 2017).	translational research	• Suitable model for	
• Suggested for translational	(Tator & Poon 2009).	neuroscience research.	
research.			

Table 1: Selection of an optimum injury model

Based on the different aspects of lesion and behavioral tests, experimental rat models have advantages and disadvantages over other animal models. For example, for therapeutic research of forelimb muscles and movements, the transection injury model is useful (Steward & Willenberg 2017). To evaluate motor recovery, skilled reaching tasks in rats would be useful. Similarly, drug and cell treatments are useful to study the regeneration of the CST in the spinal cord that assists the forelimb movements (Dai et al 2009, Girgis et al 2007). Hence, it is essential to choose the right injury model based on the specific research question one might have in SCI research.

1.2.6 Behavioral examinations

The fundamental organization of a rat's spinal cord is not much different from that of the human spinal cord. Before and after an experimental SCI in rats, behavioral tests are conducted to understand the alteration of neurophysiology of the spinal cord neural network. Furthermore, a behavioral test helps to trace any improvement of a specific function at different stages of therapeutic intervention. As an example, after a cervical cord injury, the forelimb muscles lose the ability to contract volitionally to grasp anything. Furthermore, the co-ordinations between the muscles are also lost (Alam et al. 2017). Different muscles are involved in different skilled movements such as reaching, grasping, and withdrawal of the limb which can be topographically mapped in the spinal cord region as shown in **Fig 6** (McKenna et al 2000). After an experimental SCI in the desired location, alteration in the spinal cord and neurological function can be confirmed after behavioral assessment. Hence, behavioral recovery is one of the fundamental tests after any therapeutic intervention of SCI. Laboratory rats are widely used to evaluate different types of behavioral tests that involve neurological functions.



Fig 6: Schematic representation of forelimb muscles in relation to cervical spinal cord **A**) shoulder and arm muscles; **B**) their rostrocaudal topography of motoneuron columns; and **C**) the relative position in the transverse plane at three levels of the spinal cord of a laboratory rat. Adapted from (McKenna et al 2000).

Different behavioral tests are carried out to estimate the pre- and post-injury functions of various neurological tracts of the sensorimotor system (Muir & Webb 2000). These tests are mainly categorized based on data collection procedures and functional organization of the nervous system (Kunkel-Bagden et al 1993, Muir & Webb 2000). According to the data collection procedure, these tests are categorized as: 1) endpoint measures, in which a certain behavior receives a score according to some predefined scale, e.g. number of pellets eaten in a given time; 2) kinematic measurements, which range from a qualitative description of movements to continuous quantitative measurements, e.g. Basso-Beattie-

Bresnahan (BBB) scale; 3) kinetic measurements, which quantify the force produced by the limbs, e.g. forelimb grip strength tests; and 4) electrophysiological measurements, e.g. motor and somatosensory evoked potentials (Muir & Webb 2000). Based on the neurological tracts used (Sedy et al 2008), these behavioral examinations can be divided into: 1) Motor test, e.g., limb grip strength test, forelimb reaching task; 2) Locomotor test, e.g. BBB scale, swim test; 3) Sensory test, e.g. Von Frey filament test, test for hot and cold sensation; and 4) Sensorimotor test, e.g ladder walking test, grid walking test, rope climbing and walking test.

1.2.7 Motor test

Descending tracts of motor neurons convey information to the lower motor centers in the spinal cord that are responsible for transferring information to the muscle fiber to initiate movements of the limbs (Schomburg 1990). The CST is one of the foremost descending tracts of the motor system that plays a vital role in skilled motor tasks by conveying volitional information to the limbs. The degree of CST injury is strongly co-related to the impairment of skilled motor function after a SCI (Raineteau & Schwab 2001). In rats, the CST arises from the sensorimotor cortex and projects to laminae III-VI in the ventral part of the spinal dorsal column. Less than 5% of the CST from the cerebral cortex terminates in the ipsilateral side of the spinal cord (Brosamle & Schwab 1997). Moreover as a descending motor tract, the CST highly dominates forelimb and hind limb control (Iwaniuk et al 1999). However, CST projections are less developed in the lumbosacral enlargement of the spinal cord and thus it has less effect on hindlimb stepping (Muir & Whishaw 1999). After a cervical injury, motor control of the forelimb is profoundly affected due to the impairment of the CST. Motor functions may be restored after skilled motor learning

training that assists in the reorganization of the CST (Starkey et al 2011). To assess the motor recovery of descending tracts, several functional tests have been developed. These tests include evaluation of the motor functions of different limbs after complete and incomplete SCI. Among these tests the Irvine, Beatties and Bresnahan (IBB) scale, skilled forelimb reaching task and limb grip strength test are the most common to evaluate the motor functions after an experimental SCI in laboratory rats.

1.2.8 Skilled forelimb reaching task

To evaluate motor function after a cervical SCI and treatments, a skilled forelimb reaching task is commonly evaluated for rats (Whishaw et al 1993). The task is time-consuming and needs several weeks of training to induce motor learning for forelimb food pellet retrieval (**Fig 7**). First, rats are need to habituated with the apparatus and special food pellet (usually sugar pellet) for one to two weeks. A special Plexiglas chamber (40 cm \times 25 cm \times 30 cm) with a 1-2 cm wide opening for grasping the food pellet from a pit is normally used (**Fig 9**).



Fig 7: **A typical schedule for skilled forelimb reaching tasks**. The first week is essential for animal handling, apparatus habituation and food familiarization for the rats. The following week is for determining the rats' preferred paw for forelimb reaching. During the next 4 weeks, rats are trained in the forelimb reaching task. At the end of 4 weeks of training, a baseline video of rats' reaching and grasping behavior is recorded followed by an experimental SCI. To evaluate the injury and the recovery after different treatments, typically 6 weeks of reaching tests of food pellets are required. The reaching scores are

then compared with the baseline for the statistical significance of difference to evaluate different treatment effects on forelimb functional recovery.

Food restriction is needed from 3 days prior to starting the training. Training is required for several weeks to master the reaching and grasping of the food pellets. A pellet should be placed on a pit platform in front of the box slit and to ensure that the rat approaches the opening in a continuous manner. Ten pellets for warm up and 20 pellets per task are usually used to evaluate the reaching behavior. Qualitative and quantitative assessments of a rat's skilled reaching task are performed after 4 weeks of training (5 sessions/week) (Whishaw et al 2003a); (Alam et al 2017). For qualitative assessment, 10 components of movements (digits to the midline, digits flexed, elbow in, advance, digits extended, arpeggio, grasp, supination I and II) are rated. Animals' reaching is rated on a 3-point scale. For normal reaching a score of "0" and for abnormal movement "1" is used. If there is no movement then "2" is given (Whishaw 2000, Whishaw et al 1993) (**Fig 8**). For quantitative assessment, the success rate of a rat's reaching is usually calculated. It includes the total number of pellets retrieved and eaten. The following equation is used for reaching success rate estimation:

Success rate = Number of pellets / Number of trials $\times 100$



Fig 8: **Skilled forelimb reaching task for a laboratory rat. A**) A special Plexiglas chamber is designed to evaluate the forelimb reaching task. A 1 cm wide opening in the front of the box is used to extend the forelimb to grasp a food pellet from a pit platform which is 3 cm above the base. **B-E**) Different stages (advance- forelimb is advanced through a slot to the platform, digit extension- forepaw is extended toward the pellet, grasp-paw grasps the pellet and supination- paw is withdrawn from the slot and a pellet is successfully taken into the mouth) of reaching and grasping of a sugar pellet by a trained Sprague Dawley rat.

Furthermore, the amount of time required for grasping the pellets can also be measured to evaluate forelimb functional recovery (Chan et al 2005). A major limitation of the skilled forelimb reaching task is that partial lesion may not impair the reaching success and qualitative scores including forepaw aiming, supination and food pellet release. However, it is also expected that complete
restoration of the damaged corticospinal pyramidal tract will not restore the original behavioral condition (Piecharka et al 2005).

1.2.9 Irvine, Beatties and Bresnahan (IBB) scale for forelimb function

The IBB scale is a 10-point scale to identify recovery of both proximal and distal forelimb functions after unilateral cervical SCI. Unlike the forelimb reaching task, acclimatization of rats and food deprivation is not necessary for this test (Irvine et al 2010). First, a rat is placed in a cylindrical Plexiglas chamber for acclimation to the food. When the rat is well adapted to the apparatus and food, grasping and eating behavior are recorded by a video camera. Various sizes (spherical and doughnut) of cereals are generally used to assess forelimb function. From the recorded video, elbow position (extended or flexed), supporting of the paw (contact or noncontact), position of forepaw (clubbed, extended or flexed), digit movements and grasping method are evaluated (Inoue et al 2013). However, visual inspections by the experimenter may affect the experimental assessment and outcomes.

1.2.10 Limb grip strength test

A grip strength test is used to evaluate both forelimb and hindlimb functions (Meyer et al 1979). Furthermore, the quantitative strength of flexor muscles can also be measured by this test. Grip strength measurement is important because it can predict any functional deficits in limbs after a SCI. It is also useful to evaluate the motor function (Anderson et al 2005). Anderson and colleagues also showed that after hemisection of the cervical spinal cord rats completely lose their ability to grip anything for two weeks, whereas after complete hemisection, rats lose the gripping ability permanently (Anderson et al 2005). The grasping ability of a rat's forelimbs is evaluated as described previously (Alam et al

2015). Acclimatization of rats to the testing apparatus is necessary before starting the test. At the beginning, a rat forepaw is placed to grasp a bar (1 mm diameter) that is attached to a force transducer. The rat is then gently pulled away from the bar. The sensor reads the pull strength until the rat releases the bar. Maximum grip strength is then measured from the recorded force. For each forelimb, several testing sessions are usually conducted to evaluate the maximum grip strengths of forepaws. This method is a simple procedure to evaluate the recovery over time. The response is immediate and the rats are always motivated to grasp. However, after daily repeated testing, rats may hesitate to grasp if they feel an unpleasant sensation when lifted by the tail (Bertelli & Mira 1995).

In patients, one of the priorities is to restore arm and hand function after a cervical injury. To study this in laboratory rats, skilled motor tasks are essential. One of the skilled motor tasks includes forelimb function for food-pellet reaching which helps to evaluate the motor tract before and after an experimental cervical SCI. However, in the food-pellet reaching task, a food restriction is necessary that may affect the sensitivity of the result (Alexander & B. 2012). To study forelimb proximal and distal digit movements a food pellet reaching task could be a better choice of test.

An appropriate behavioral test should be chosen to understand the effects of new therapeutic interventions on experimental animals. Limitations of the behavior tests should be considered before proceeding with the test. For specific tract recovery, a behavior test should be chosen very wisely. For example, to evaluate the motor recovery, especially after CST injury, skilled reaching task in rats is useful. Similarly, for drug and cell transplantation treatments for sensorimotor recovery, different grid walking tests can be considered. Behavioral assessment should also be chosen on the basis of reliability,

22

validation and sensitivity (Basso 2004, Basso et al 1995, Fouad et al 2013). The overall criteria for selecting a particular behavioral test are summarized in **Table 2**.

Motor test	Locomotor test	Sensory test	Sensorimotor test
• To study volitional	• To study the	• To examine	• To examine
movements	central pattern	sensory integrity	somatosensory
including arm and	generator (CPG)	and improvement	and sensorimotor
digit movements	mechanism	after any	integration
(Irvine et al 2010).	(Guertin 2012).	neurological	(Moreno-López
• Qualitative and	• To study flexor	injury (Detloff et	et al 2016).
quantitative	and extensor	al 2012).	• To assess gait
assessment of	neural network	• To evaluate the	dynamics (Rigosa
forelimb function	organization	afferent tract	et al 2015).
(Whishaw et al	(Kiehn 2006).	function (Lavrov	• To evaluate the
2003a).		et al 2008).	coordination
• To test different			between left and
neuronal tract			right limb
functions			movements
(Whishaw et al			(Metz &
1993).			Whishaw 2002).

1.3 Strategies for SCI repair

Following a SCI, several pathological events are developed that affect neuronal functions by forming glial scars and hindrance to axonal regeneration and recovery (Nas et al 2015, Rolls et al 2009). Therapeutic approaches in present days focus on preventing the severity of primary and secondary injuries related events following SCI. Until now, several approaches including cell treatment (Assinck et al 2017) neurostimulation (Harkema et al 2011), pharmacological modulation (Pantovic et al 2005) and physical rehabilitation have been applied to improve the conditions of SCI subjects (**Fig 9**). Epidural stimulation showed significant improvement; however, the approach cannot singularly improve the function without extensive physical therapy (David Darrow et al 2019).





techniques. Alongside the neuromodulation is a popular approach to modulate the damaged spinal cord to restore the function.

Electrical neuromodulation in spinal cord has the potentials to optimize the recovery. In contrast, combinatorial approaches such as low doses of pharmacological agents, electrical stimulation and motor training have shown significant functional improvements in SCI animal models and human subjects (Angeli et al 2018, Duru et al 2015, Formento et al 2018, Gill et al 2018, Wagner et al 2018, Zhao et al 2013).

1.3.1 Cell transplantation and neurotrophic factor

Stem cells have the potential to improve sensorimotor function through regeneration and remyelination of axonal fibers (Gu et al 2010, Khankan et al 2016). Clinical uses of some stem cells have shown promising improvement in the motor recovery after spinal cord injury (El-Kheir et al 2014, Mendonca et al 2014, Satti et al 2016). In the United States till now almost 1200 clinical trials have been carried out by using the stem cell therapies (Sabbah & Behfar 2020). Recently a phase I clinical trial of autologous adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells has shown a favorable improvement following a cervical injury in one patient with no side effects (Bydon et al 2020). The study suggested meaningful improvement compared to the other clinical trials. However, the study is still ongoing.

Besides this in recent years stem cells have shown also some promising results in an animal model of SCI and human clinical trial as neuroprotector and immunomodulator. Among these neural stem cells, mesenchymal stem cells, olfactory ensheathing cells, schwann cells, activated macrophages, embryonic stem cells and induced pluripotent stem cells are remarkable (Curtis et al 2018, Gensel & Zhang 2015, Kanno et al 2015, Khankan et al

2016, Nagoshi & Okano 2017). Neural stem cells act as a neuroprotective agent by promoting functional serotoninergic neurons through the modulation of Bcl-2 expression that mainly prevents apoptosis (Chen et al 2007). Moreover, as an immunomodulator, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and neural stem cell can easily migrate to the injury site to modulate the injured area (Nakajima et al 2012). Among stem cells, MSCs can easily migrate to the injured area and trigger out anti-inflammatory effect (Pineau & Lacroix 2007). Neural stem cell has a robust immunomodulatory activity after transplantation of SCI to reduce neutrophil infiltration, regulate macrophage activation and attenuate inflammatory cytokines (Cheng et al 2016). Besides as an immunomodulator, stem cells can secrete neurotrophic factors that also facilitate neuronal regeneration and currently under investigation (Gransee et al 2015, Ide et al 2016).

Neurotrophic factors are small molecules of polypeptides that is crucial for axonal regeneration, neuroprotection and ion channel regulation (Huang & Reichardt 2001). Neurotrophins work predominantly by guiding neural cell survival, increase synaptic activity by releasing neurotransmitters, control synaptic plasticity and facilitate axonal regeneration and dendritic branch (Chao 2003). NT-3 trigger out the action by mainly axonal regeneration in the CST region. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) protects both rubrospinal and corticospinal neurons. In chronic spinal cord injuries, combination therapy of BDNF with cell transplantation promoted axonal regeneration into peripheral nerve grafts (Plunet et al 2002). Likewise, neurotrophin nerve growth factor (NGF). also acts as a neuroprotector in SCI by inhibiting the oxidative base apoptosis (Salinas et al 2003).

1.3.2 Immunomodulation

Following injury, the inflammatory cell infiltration in the injured region can carry out an avoidable detrimental effect of an individual. Infiltration of M1 macrophage in the injured region associated with tissue damage, peroxidation and fibrosis. However, M2 macrophages disappear (Monteiro et al 2018) after the injury. The immunomodulatory approaches have been developed to protect the neural tissue and combat the inflammation immediately after spinal cord injury. In animal model recent years systematic administration of IL-4 for 7 weeks promotes motor neuron and oligodendrocyte numbers in the injured area. Moreover, the animals regained weight support and the inducible nitric oxide (iNO) concentration reduced indicates the role in neuroprotection (Lima et al 2017). In recent years stem cells have also shown some promising results in animal model of SCI as a immunomodulator. Among stem cells, MSCSs can easily migrate to the injured area and trigger out ant-inflammatory effect (Liu et al 2016). Comprising the above findings, the initial result of immune modulation is not fully satisfactory for SCI recovery.

1.3.3 Neuromodulatory approaches

Neuromodulation is used to alter the neuronal activity using drug or electrical or magnetic interferences. In injured patients spinal cord neuromodulation is used to restore voluntary and/or autonomic functions. In recent years, several approaches of neuromodulation using electrical, magnetic or pharmacological agents (drugs) have been used to modulate the neural activity (James et al 2018).

i. Electrical neuromodulation

There are several methods of spinal cord electrical stimulation (**Fig 10**). Electrical stimulation can be delivered to the spinal cord via invasive and non-invasive methods. Invasive methods include epidural and intraspinal stimulation that requires low stimulation current. While non-invasive stimulation includes transcutaneous painless electrical stimulation to reactivate the spinal cord through the sensory interneuronal pathway (Sayenko et al 2015).



Fig 10: Electrical neuromodulation. A) Invasive stimulation including epidural and intraspinal stimulation; B) Non-invasive transcutaneous stimulation. Adapted from (Ievins & Moritz 2017, Minassian et al 2012)

In 1967, Shealy and colleagues at first stimulated the spinal cord via a single electrode at 10-50 Hz frequency for relief of chronic intractable pain (Shealy et al 1970). Later, bipolar electrodes at high frequency (100-200 Hz) stimulation were used to relieve the pain while the current remaining well below the level for tissue damage (Shealy et al 1967). In recent years, several research groups have been working to restore the functions after SCI in

animal models (Bamford & Mushahwar 2011, Edgerton et al 2008). Epidural electrical stimulation has shown significant improvement in cervical SCI rats and quadriplegic patients (Alam et al 2017, Lu et al 2016). More recently, Coutrine and his colleagues targeted neurotechnologies to restore the neuronal activity of spinal cord injured individual those who suffered more than four years (Wagner et al 2018).

Intraspinal electrical stimulation is rarely done in humans. In animal study, intraspinal stimulation can elicit a wide variety of functional capabilities (Giszter et al 2000, Holinski et al 2016). In cervical injured rats, intraspinal electrical stimulation facilitates motor function and lasts for weeks even after stimulation ceased (Sunshine et al 2013). Furthermore, in monkeys intraspinal stimulation can improve the reaching and grasping function (Zimmermann et al 2011). Intraspinal electrical stimulation to the ventral spinal cord directly activates motorneuron to facilitate the single joint movement. Moreover, when stimulation applied to the lamina of spinal cord it activates axons and interneurons directly (Ranck 1975).

Non-invasive electrodes on the surface of the skin over the vertebral column are used to stimulate the spinal cord, and termed as transcutaneous spinal cord stimulation. Because of non-invasive nature and no need for surgery, the method is more attractive compared to the epidural and intraspinal electrical stimulations. Epidural and transcutaneous stimulation can target the same neural structures. A 10-kHz frequency with 100mA of current is passed through the skin to activate the spinal cord without causing any pain (Gerasimenko et al 2015). The stimulation can modulate the excitability of spinal and supraspinal circuits and thus can improve the upper extremity strength (Inanici et al 2018). Clinical studies have shown that when stimulation applied different spinal levels along with rehabilitation

training, the treatment can improve locomotion in chronic spinal cord injured patients (Yury P. Gerasimenko 2015). Recently, a case study has shown a patient after 21 years of paralysis regained volitional control of lower limb and standing ability after transcutaneous stimulation (Alam et al 2020). However, the mechanism yet not understood. It is assumed that transcutaneous stimulation is likely less accurate in targeting the specific spinal cord (Hofstoetter et al 2018).

ii. Cortical neuromodulation

Transcranial magnetic stimulation is another neuromodulatory approaches applied on the skull to elicit the motor activity from the cortical neuron. When applied with motor activity, stimulation can increase the excitability of cortical neuron (Sriraman et al 2014). In chronic tetraplegic condition, a 10Hz stimulation combined with repetitive practice can improve the hand function (Gomes-Osman & Field-Fote 2015). Moreover, in motor incomplete SCI patients high-frequency magnetic stimulation can lead to improve the gait (Kumru et al 2016). This model of stimulation could be useful if the anatomical and neuromodulatory effects are known after stimulating throughout the injury period.

1.4 Future perspectives

Recently, another non-invasive neuromodulatory approach, called trans-spinal magnetic stimulation has shown some hopeful results in translational research. In mouse model following a thoracic contusion of injury, exposure of trans-spinal magnetic stimulation at a rate of 15Hz remarkably improves the functional recovery (Leydeker et al 2013). Furthermore, in the injured tissue elevation of the excitatory neurotransmitter, glutamate

was found higher. However, in cervical injured patient trans-spinal magnetic stimulation can reduce the excitability of the CST (Nakagawa & Nakazawa 2018).

Chapter 2: Aims and objectives

2.1 Rationale of the current study

Although epidural electrical neuromodulation for spinal cord injured patient has shown promising results, some limitations still persist. This invasive method requires a surgical implantation of stimulating electrodes and optimization of the locations of electrodes (Alam et al 2016). Although the parameters used in the epidural stimulation is difficult to translate in non-invasive stimulation because of the application of current through the skin (Ievins & Moritz 2017) some promising result already demonstrated in the upper extremity recovery (Inanici et al 2018, Parag Gad 2018, Rodionov et al 2019) In addition to the electrical and magnetic stimulations, the therapeutic effects of ultrasound stimulation on neurons has recently been explored (Blackmore et al 2019, Tyler et al 2018, Tyler et al 2008). Low-intensity pulsed ultrasound (LIPUS) is a novel non-invasive neuromodulation approach that could be used for rehabilitation after a neurological disorder such as spinal cord injury. Besides this, the safety and efficacy of LIPUS have shown promising results on brain (Jiang et al 2016, Legon et al 2014, Mueller et al 2014, Tufail et al 2010, Yuan et al 2016) and peripheral nerve injuries (Matthew et al 2018, Ni et al 2017). To find a successful non-invasive neuromodulation strategy, firstly, therapeutic ultrasounds on the spinal cord were investigated in SCI animal model in the current study. Moreover, it has been demonstrated that epidural electrical stimulation along with serotonergic agonists can transform nonfunctional spinal circuits into functional after a complete transection in rats with weight-bearing bipedal locomotion (Courtine et al 2009, Dominici et al 2012, van den Brand et al 2012). To carry out a similar effect in cervical cord injured rats, in the present study ultrasound stimulation was delivered along with a serotonergic agonists drug-Buspirone to facilitate the forelimb functional recovery in rats.

2.2 Research hypothesis

From the above rationale, it was hypothesized that

1) Ultrasound stimulation to the injured cervical spinal cord neuromodulates motor functions in rats.

2) Ultrasound neuromodulation along with serotonin agonists improve forelimb function in cervical cord injured rats.

Chapter 3: Ultrasound neuromodulation of the injured spinal cord

3.1 Therapeutic ultrasound

Ultrasound is a mechanical sound wave and it is inaudible due to its frequency of 20 kHz above. Medical ultrasound, also known as ultrasonography is a diagnostic or imaging technique based on the application of ultrasound. It is used to see the structures of internal body by recording the echoes from different tissues. Besides the imaging purpose, therapeutic value of ultrasound stimulation is also significant because of its biophysical effects on the tissues. Ultrasound stimulation carries out the therapeutic action by penetrating the deep tissues. Sonic energy can be transformed into heat through solid concentrations of tissue material (Schwan 1956). The ultrasonic reaction on biological tissue was extensively studied by Lehman (Lehmann 1953). It has been shown that heating caused by ultrasound plays a significant role in therapeutic conditions, although the study was done by using high-intensity ultrasound. Currently, high intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU) is used as a thermal source for tissue ablation, tissue hyperthermia and microbubble-mediated blood-brain barrier opening to deliver the drug in the brain (Hynynen et al 2001, Kim et al 2008). The physical and biological effects of highfrequency sound waves of higher intensity at first were studied by Wood and Lomis (G.F.S 1928). Then it was studied by another group of researchers on the nervous tissue (Fry et al 1950). High intensity (~35 W/cm²) ultrasound was used to irradiate the dorsal surface over the frog lumbar enlargement of the spinal cord for 4 sec. After irradiation, the frog exhibited hind limb paralysis along with elevation of the temperature (1 to 2°C). Other studies also showed that an increase of 2 to 3°C could cause various changes in biological tissue during musculoskeletal and neurological disorders with HIFU (Zhang et al 2017a).

Comparing with high-intensity stimulation, LIPUS has shown promising results without any side effects on the musculoskeletal system (Cook et al 2001, Enwemeka et al 1990, Zhang et al 2017b). It does not cause any tissue damage because of its low thermal effect and intensity.

3.2 Effects of ultrasound on the central nervous system

Thermal effects of high-intensity ultrasound has an high clinical significance for noninvasive surgeries (Naor et al 2016, Zhang et al 2017a). However, heating tissue with high intensity can cause irreversible damage in visual cortex activity (Fry et al 1958). Meanwhile, in therapeutic ultrasound low-intensity is used to modulate neuronal membrane potentials and synaptic transmissions through the non-thermal activation of ion-channels (Tyler et al 2008) (**Fig 11**). Some other studies have shown that low-intensity ultrasound can modulate the cortical, thalamic and hippocampal regions in animal model (Lee et al 2016, Li et al 2016, Robert et al 2018, Yoo et al 2011). However, the exact mechanism of this neuromodulation is still unclear. Acute modulation of brain in animal model has shown safe and paved the way for human studies.

The effects of low-intensity ultrasound on spinal cord is not well-studied. Takagi and colleagues at first explored the role of ultrasound in frog spinal cord (Takagi et al 1960). The action of ultrasound on spinal reflex discharge was studied in that experiment. After 20 sec of stimulation small spontaneous discharge was recorded on the ventral root. When higher intensity was used to stimulate the spinal cord, spontaneous discharge again appeared. However, beyond a certain level, the discharge started to decrease and disappear.



Fig 11: Proposed mechanism of the neuronal membrane and ion channel alteration during a low-intensity ultrasound stimulation. **A**) Resting condition of the neuronal membrane and ion channel; **B**) (1) Acoustic pressure causes a mechanical effect on membrane and ion channels (2) membrane compression (3) changes of membrane conductance. **C**) (1) and (2) Acoustic forces causes the formation of bilayer sonophore (3) and (4) changes in the membrane capacitance (Cm), voltage (Vm) and membrane conductance (Gm). Adapted from (Tyler et al 2018).

3.3 Effect of ultrasound on peripheral nerve

In addition to brain modulation, ultrasound can also modulate the peripheral nerve both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Jiang et al 2016, Saffari et al 2017). Electrophysiological recordings from frog sciatic nerves have shown that ultrasound has a reversible effect (Takagi et al 1960). In this study, researchers found that high-intensity ultrasound has an inhibitory effect compared to the low intensity. However, the reason behind this is still unrevealed. A recent study has demonstrated that cavitation produced by the ultrasound can modulate crab peripheral nerve (Saffari et al 2017). A study in rat model has shown that focused ultrasound can stimulate the sciatic nerve similar to electrical stimulation (Matthew et al 2018). However, a previous study has shown that focused ultrasound decrease the nerve action potential indicated that ultrasound could be used to block nerve conduction either temporarily and permanently (Colucci et al 2009). In peripheral nerve injury, autograft with LIPUS significantly induced faster axonal regeneration (Jiang et al 2016).

In recent years significant research has been conducted to elucidate the therapeutic effect of ultrasound stimulation in several neurological disorders such as stroke, Parkinson disease and pain management (Leinenga et al 2016). However, no study of therapeutic ultrasound on the SCI recovery has yet been conducted. Furthermore, the motor behavior and the effects of ultrasound on the SCI neuromodulation are unknown. To address this, in the present thesis study, therapeutic ultrasound on spinal cord was investigated in SCI animal model. In this study, for the first time, I have investigated the effects of LIPUS on injured spinal cord and the motor behavior study following cervical cord injury.

All the following experimental procedures were approved and performed under the strict guidelines of Animal Subjects Ethics Sub-committee of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and the Department of Health – Animals (control of experiments) of the Hong Kong S. A. R. government.

3.4 Experimental subjects

Twenty-five healthy adult female Sprague Dawley rats (240-280 gm body weight) were used in this study. Because of the low feed conversion ratio and easy to handle the female rats were used in this study. The rats were housed at a constant temperature (25 °C) in the Centralized Animal Facilities at The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. The daylight cycle was maintained on a regular 12 hr. light/dark. Fresh food and ad-libitum water were provided.

3.5 Experimental design

To accustom with the forelimb reaching and grasping task, first 1-2 weeks the rats were handled to familiarize with a special Plexiglas chamber (40 cm × 25 cm × 30 cm; with a 1-2 cm wide opening) for grasping the food pellet from a pit (Ahmed et al 2019) (**Fig 13**). At the same time, the rats were also familiarized with the special 45 gm dustless food pellets (Bio-serv®, Flemington, NJ, USA) to grasp and eat by the preferred forepaw. After two weeks of handling, apparatus habituation, food familiarization and preferred paw reaching for forelimb grasping task the rats were trained to grasp the pellet from the pit in a consecutive manner. Food restrictions were provided before starting the training. To master on reaching and grasping task, 45 mg dustless pellets (Bio-serv®, Flemington, NJ, USA) were given in the food pit. The pellets were placed on a pit platform in front of the box slit and ensured that the rat approaches the opening in a consistent manner. Ten pellets for warm-up and 20 pellets per task were usually used to evaluate the reaching behavior.

Quantitative assessments of rat's skilled reaching task were performed for six weeks as described previously (Whishaw & Tomie 1989).



Fig 12: Experimental setup. 25 rats were trained for six weeks for forelimb reaching and grasping task. After familiarization, skilled learning and accustom to the task, 20 rats achieved 75% success rate after 6 weeks of training and included for the SCI surgery and EMG electrodes implantation. After one week of recovery from injury the rats were categorized into two groups – ultrasound stimulation group (US, n=11) and control group (Control, n=9) for evaluation of therapeutic ultrasound stimulation in the injured cervical cord.



Fig 13: Food pellet chamber; A) Special Plexiglas chamber for reaching and grasping task; B) Small pit for food pellet. A small platform was attached outside the pit to place the

food pellets. Additional small dips were made on the platform for additional stabilities of the pellets.

Following six weeks of successful training, nineteen rats showed high success rates and were included for the surgery. The rats were prepared for the experimental SCI surgery to deficit forelimb motor function (**Fig 12**). The dorsal funiculus was crushed at C4 level to induce significant motor deficits. At the same time, EMG electrodes were implanted in the forelimb extensor digitorum and flexor digitorum muscles. After recovering from the injury, the rat's forelimb reaching task success rates were collected. To get unbiased results the rats were divided into two balanced groups- US stimulation (n=11) and Control group (n=9) (**Fig 12**). Post-injury data were collected once a week for 8 weeks and compared with the control group rats.

3.6 Pre-injury success rate

Twenty-five rats were trained for 6 weeks after one week of handling, habituation of the food pellets and behavior chamber to master the reaching and grasping task. At day-10 the success rate was found 18.75 ± 4.22 which gradually increased to 57.75 ± 3.58 until day 20 (**Fig 14**). And at week -6 the average value of success rates was recorded~75%. Following 6 weeks of training, spinal cord injury was carried out in twenty rats.



Fig 14: Reaching and grasping learning curve of intact rats (n=20). Significant difference (***P<0.001, one-way ANOVA) was found at day-42 compared to the day-10 of reaching and grasping success rates (Mean ± SEM).

3.7 SCI surgery

To carry out a significant forelimb motor deficit incomplete SCI was carried out in twenty rats. The rats were first anesthetized with isoflurane gas (5%) and maintained (1.5-2%) via a facemask throughout the surgery. The rat's body temperature was maintained at 37 °C using a heating pad (Thermostar Homeothermic Blanket, RWD®, China). Before the surgery, an analgesic Buprenorphine HCL (Buprenex®, 0.5mg/kg, S.C.) was administered. The surgical sites (head and cervical region) were carefully shaved and disinfected by povidone-iodine (Betadine®, Mundipharma, Switzerland) followed by 70% ethanol. To carry out an incomplete SCI a longitudinal midline incision was made dorsal to the cervical spinal column (Alam et al 2017). Laminectomy was performed by removing fascia and reflecting underlying spinal muscles over the C2-C6 vertebra to isolate the spinous process

with the rongeurs. At C4 level by using a bone nibbler, the spinal cord was exposed. To produce an incomplete injury at C4 level dorsal funiculus was crushed by inserting tips of a fine sharp forceps (2 mm wide and 2 mm deep) as described by García-Alías and colleagues (García-Alías et al 2009) (**Fig 15**). A 2-mm object was used after each surgery to measure the length of injury at C4 level. Hemostat was carried out by placing small cotton.



Fig 15: Experimental spinal cord injury in trained rats. **a)** After incising the skin and retracting the muscles layer the cervical spinous processes (C2-C6) are carried out for laminectomy; **b**) Laminectomy carried out at C4 level; **c & d**) Sharp fine forceps used to crush the dorsal funiculus (2 mm deep and 2 mm wide) at C4 level; **e**) A 2-mm object was used to measure the length of the injury; **f**) Skin incision was made along the midline of the skull to place the stainless steel screws; **g**) After placing the screws a short miniature connector (SMC) connector was placed on the midline of the skull and dental cement was used to fix it.

3.8 Preparation of ultrasound discs for implant

To deliver therapeutic ultrasound in behaving rats, an implanted ultrasound probe is used in this study. As ultrasound probe piezoelectric discs (PZT-8, Beijing Quanxin Ultrasonic Co. Ltd, China) were utilized. To transmit electric power to the piezoelectric disc, two (5cm each) multi-stranded Teflon-coated stainless-steel wires (Conner wire, Chatsworth, CA, USA) were connected (**Fig 16a**). The other ends of the wires were connected to the pins of a head connector (SMC) to mount on the head of the rat. The piezoelectric element was then coated with a biocompatible material as described previously (Alam et al., 2019). In brief, by the dip-coating method, the piezo element was coated at first with polyurethane. After 12 hr of drying at 75°C in a hot air oven (OF-02G, JEIO TECH Co. Ltd., South Korea), another FDA-approved biocompatible compound silicone (Shantou Chaonan Xiancheng Hengchang Silicone Material Factory, China) was applied over the first layer.



Fig 16: Ultrasound stimulation probe; a) A piezoelectric element was coated with silicone and connected to a connector via Teflon coated wires; **b**) The probe was placed on the cervical region after dorsal column crush and the connector was mounted on the head using dental cement.

3.9 Mounting the connector and placing the ultrasound probe

To anchor the connector on the skull, the rats were placed on a stereotaxic frame. A skin incision was made along the midline of the skull. Fascia and muscles over the skull were reflected laterally. The skull was dried and drilled to put the stainless steel screws into the bone (**Fig 15f**). The SMC connector (RS components[®], Taiwan) was then placed between the screws. Dental cement was used to fix the connector (**Fig 15g**). The ultrasound probe was then placed at the C4 level of the spinal cord where dorsal funiculus was crushed and fixed by suturing the wires with the adjunct muscles (**Fig 16b**). The muscles and connective tissue over the cervical region were sutured by using 4.0 Vicryl (ETHICON[®], NJ, USA) and skin was closed with continuous 4.0 Ethilon suture.

3.10 EMG electrodes implantation

To record the muscle activities during reaching and grasping tasks EMG electrodes were implanted in rats. The objectives of implanting the electrodes were to record the extensor and flexor activity before and after the ultrasound stimulation. From each group, 2 rats were selected to implant the EMG electrodes at preferred forelimb extensor and flexor digitorum muscles.

The head plug of the EMG connector was placed on the skull after retracting the skin and connective tissue. To place the electrodes at paw muscles, the Teflon-coated stainless-steel wires (AS631, Cooner Wire, USA) were carried out to the incised forelimb distal flexor and extensor digitorum muscles area. A blunt forceps was used to pass the electrodes subcutaneously at the muscle belly. After placing the electrodes, a sharp forceps was used to retract the fascia and find out the muscle belly. To fix the electrodes a 27-gauze needle

was inserted in the muscle belly and the Teflon coated wires were passed in the muscles. A part (~0.5 mm) of the Teflon from the wires were removed to make EMG electrodes. The electrodes were then anchored tightly at both ends by using 4.0 Ethilon sutures. To confirm the position of the electrodes, electrical stimulation was delivered through the connector to observe muscle contraction. After confirmation, the wires were then coiled subcutaneously to relieve the stress. Ultrasound probe connector was then fixed on the skull after drilling screws onto the skull. Finally, dental cement was applied to affix the connector.

3.11 Post-surgery care

After the surgery, the rats were transferred to a temperature and humidity controlled incubator (AEOLUS Incubator, ICU-1801, USA) to recover from the anesthesia. After recovering from the injury the rats were transferred to the individual home cage. Post-surgery oral antibiotic Enrofloxacin (Baytril[®], 0.5mg/kg, s.c) was administered for six days to prevent infection and analgesic Buprenorphine HCL (Buprenex[®], 0.5mg/kg, S.C.) was administered twice daily for three days to suppress pain. Fresh fruits were provided in the cage for faster recovery. After 10 days of recovering from the surgery, reaching and grasping scores were collected.

3.12 Ultrasound stimulation parameters

For LIPUS stimulation, acoustic frequency 1 MHz, 20% duty cycle, Pulse Repetition Frequency (PRF) 1 kHz was used to generate pulsed ultrasound as described before (Wei et al 2014a). Previously, it was found that low intensity (~30 mW/cm²) can help to recruitment stem cell requirements in facilitating fracture healing (Wei et al 2014a) and modulate the ion channel in neuron (Tyler et al 2008). The same parameter was used for

this study. A coaxial cable was used to deliver the current from a 50W power amplifier to the ultrasound probe (**Fig. 17**). Ultrasound stimulation was provided for about 10 minutes during the reaching and grasping behavior task. Because it is already known that for any spinal cord stimulation first few minutes is needed to modulate the neuron (Alam et al 2017). Hence, the first 5 minutes of stimulation was provided to modulate the neuron and the next 5 minutes were used to calculate the forelimb reaching and grasping task success rate. The time slot was enough to grasp the pellets.



Fig 17: Ultrasound stimulation parameter. A custom-made ultrasound probe with an acoustic frequency of 1 MHz, 20% duty cycle and 1 ms (PRF) pulse repetition frequency were used to generate the LIPUS.

3.13 Ultrasound intensity measurement

Before placing the ultrasound probe on the cervical region the intensity was measured by using a needle hydrophone (HNP-1000, Onda Corporation, USA). The probe was placed inside a water tank and the hydrophone was placed rostrally to the probe at a 4-mm distance (**Fig. 18**). To supply the voltage to the ultrasound probe, a coaxial cable was

connected to the connector and the intensity was recorded by the hydrophone. The average ultrasound intensity was found around 67.35 mW/cm^2 (I_{SATA}).



Fig. 18: Ultrasound intensity measurement in a water tank. a) In a water tank, a hydrophone was placed front side of the tank. b) Scanning result from one ultrasound probe (I_{SATA} value = 67.35 mW/cm²).

To measure the intensity of pulsed ultrasound inside the vertebral canal, an *ex-vivo* experiment was conducted.



Sagittal view

Anterior view

Fig. 19: *Ex-vivo* setup to measure the ultrasound intensity inside the vertebral canal (10 mm diameter probe used to generate ultrasound; acoustic frequency 1 MHz, 20% duty cycle, PRF 1 kHz).

Previously, a vertebra was collected from one rat to measure the intensity inside the vertebral canal (**Fig. 19**). The vertebral body was drilled by an electric micro driller and the needle of the hydrophone was inserted within the body of the vertebra to measure the intensity of the ultrasound. From *ex-vivo* experiments, the average intensity of the ultrasound signal reaching the spinal cord area was found \sim 32 mW/cm² that was calculated by a point measurement at 4 mm distance from the ultrasound probe. This intensity was used during the behavior test.

3.14 Data analysis and statistics

Reaching and grasping success rates were calculated as described before (Alam et al 2017, Whishaw et al 2003b). Quantitative assessment was calculated from each rat. To calculate the success rate pre-injury 20 pellets and post-injury 30 pellets (during-stimulation 20 and post-stimulation 10) were given. A two-point scoring system was used where 0= failed to grasp the pellet at the first attempt and 1= first attempt to grasp the pellet. Pre- and post-injury success rate was calculated to find out the difference.

Two-tailed pair test was used to determine the success rate of reaching and grasping rate between pre- vs. post-injury. Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey posthoc test was used to determine the difference among the success rates for during- and postultrasound therapeutic stimulation. The maximum grip force from two groups was also analyzed by using two-way ANOVA with Tukey post-hoc test from week -1 to week -6.

For EMG analysis, video footage of reaching and grasping (successful and unsuccessful) attempts were examined frame by frame in a media player. The EMG signals were

bandpass filtered at 10-1000 Hz and amplified 1000 times using an analog amplifier (Model 1700 Differential AC Amplifier, AM Systems, United States). After filtering the amplified EMG signal was rectified and area under the curve of the rectified signal was then calculated by "trapz function": A data acquisition system (Power1401-3A, Cambridge Electronics Design Ltd., United Kingdom) was used to digitize the EMG signals. A software (Signal, Cambridge Electronics Design Ltd., United Kingdom) was used to visualized the signals and synchronized with the video during the reaching and grasping task of extensor and flexor muscle EMGs. The difference between groups was considered as significant if p<0.05. Statistical analysis was performed using Prism (GraphPad Prism Software, version 8.4.2, USA) and MATLAB (Math Works Inc., Natick, USA).

3.15 Results

3.15.1 Pre-injury vs Post-injury success rate

Behavior data was collected once a week from one-week post-injury. The rats were placed in a Plexiglas chamber with a 1 cm wide opening. Dustless sugar pellets were placed on a pit platform in front of the box slit to ensure that the rat approaches the opening in a consistent manner. After one week of recovery from the injury, the success rates were measured and compared to the pre-injury baseline. The success rate dropped significantly (p=0.0381) compared to the pre-injury score.



Fig. 20: Pre-injury and post-injury success rates of forelimb reaching and grasping tasks. The success rate dropped after one week of recovery from the injury (***p < 0.001, paired t-test, n= 19).

The finding indicates that there was a significant motor deficit induced due to the injury (**Fig. 20**). Most of the rats lost their grasping function. However, some of them have little grasping ability. At day-8 the rats were tested to grasp the pellet. Following the tests, the rats were ranked according to the success rates. The rats were than divided into two balanced score groups (US and Control group) by bin selection method. Success rates were collected for all US group rats during- and post-ultrasound stimulation.

3.15.2 LIPUS facilitates forelimb reaching and grasping function in rats



Fig. 21: Average success rates (mean ±SEM; US, n=10 and control, n=9) of reaching and grasping tasks in US and control group rats. Solid pink line indicates the scores when the US rats receiving the ultrasound stimulation and dotted pink line is the scores immediately after the stimulation. The black line indicates the success rates of the control group rats that did not receive ultrasound stimulation. At week-2 and 3 during ultrasound stimulation, significant (**p < 0.01, two-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc test) improvement of reaching scores was found compared to the control group. Post-stimulation the success rate was also found significantly higher than control group scores at week -2 (**p < 0.01, two-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc test) and week-3 ($\uparrow P < 0.05$, two-way ANOVA). One of the rat did not attempt the task and was excluded from the results.

The success rate in US stimulation group was found higher compared to the control group from week 1 to 6. The US group rats had significant improvement at week-2 (30.00 ± 6.28 vs 5.92 \pm 2.20; p =0.0079), (30.16 ± 7.31 vs 5.92 \pm 2.20; p =0.0074) and week-3 ($41.50 \pm$ 3.11 vs 15.92 \pm 3.92; p =0.0044), (37.167 ± 4.54 ; p =0.0223) compared to the control

group rats (**Fig. 21**). However, from week-4 onward no significant improvements were found. At week-6 little more improvements were observed during (44.16 \pm 4.98) and post (38.66 \pm 6.15) stimulation, compared to the control group (26.30 \pm 5.76). However, the score at week-6 was not significant like week-2 and 3 scores.

3.15.3 EMG activity

During reaching and grasping EMG were recorded from extensor digitorum and flexor digitorum muscles at 1 to 3-week post-injury. The raw EMG signals are presented in **Fig. 22.**



Fig. 22: Raw EMG signals from a) extensor digitorum and **b)** flexor digitorum muscles during the forelimb reaching and grasping task at 3 different post-injury weeks. One representative rat EMG is presented in the figure.





EMG signals of extensor digitorum and flexor digitorum muscle values were normalized to calculate the AUC. Values were compared to the pre-stimulation and post-stimulation at week-1, 2 and 3 (**Fig. 23**). At week-1 post-injury, the normalized value of extensor muscle increased after the simulation. However, at week-2 the value decreased and no difference was found at week-3 pre- and post-stimulation. In contrast, the flexor muscle at week-1 the values decreased after stimulation and increased at week-2. Likewise, the extensor muscle, in flexor muscle no differences were found at week-3. This indicates after a 3-week of

post-injury the stimulation cannot facilitate reaching and grasping tasks like week-1 and 2. However, no statistically significant differences were found at 3 different weeks.



Fig. 24: Comparison of (mean \pm SEM) AUC values of extensor and flexor muscles EMG at week-1 and 6 during reaching and grasping task; a) Raw EMG signal and b) AUC value of extensor and flexor digitorum muscles at week -1 and week-6. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Significant differences were observed in extensor muscle (*p < 0.05, unpaired two-tailed t-test) and flexor muscle (*p < 0.001, unpaired two-tailed t-test).

From **Fig. 24a** it is observed that the control group rat muscles amplitude increase without any stimulation after injury similar as found before (Alam et al 2017). In control group at week-6 post-injury the AUC value increased from week-1 in both extensor (0.48 ± 0.05 to 0.65 ± 0.04 , *p < 0.05, unpaired two-tailed t-test) and flexor (0.09 ± 0.006 to 0.38 ± 0.03 , ***p < 0.001, unpaired two-tailed t-test) muscles (**Fig. 24b**).

3.15.3 Role of LIPUS in forelimb grip force

Following skilled reaching and grasping test, grip strength test of 11 rats (US group, n=6 rats, and Control group, n=5 rats) were determined by using a custom made grip strength meter as described before (Alam et al 2015). Each week after the forelimb reaching and grasping task the grip force was recorded. Rats were held for grasping the grid that connected to a force sensor. To record the grip force, the rats were gently pulled from the grid.



Fig. 25: Normalized grip force. Data are presented as mean and SEM (US group, n=6; and Control group, (n=5). Grip force values were normalized to the maximum values. Significant improvements were found in US group rats (***p < 0.001, two-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc test) and in control group at week 6 (**p < 0.01, two-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc test) compare to the post-injury week-1

The grip strength force of each week's values was averaged and the maximum value from pre-injury to week-6 was calculated. The values of each week were normalized from each rat according to the rule ($X = \frac{X - Xmin}{Xmax - Xmin}$) (Alam et al 2015). Significant muscle strength improvements were found at week- 6 compare to the week-1 of post-injury in US group (**Fig. 25**). However, in the control group, little significant improvements were found at week- 6. In addition, no significant differences were observed between the two groups at any week.


Fig. 26: Average (Mean \pm SEM, n=5) maximum grip strength pre-, with- and postultrasound stimulation. The grip force value was calculated from the peak output value of the sensor in the grip strength meter after 6 weeks of post-injury.

The grip strength test from the other five rats was tested pre-, during- and post-ultrasound stimulation at six-week post-injury (**Fig. 26**). Although the result was not statistically significant, the rats had shown higher grip forces during ultrasound stimulation. Furthermore, the post-stimulation grip strength is little higher than the pre-stimulation suggesting a therapeutic effect of ultrasound stimulation.

3.16 Summary and discussion

In the present study, the effects of LIPUS was evaluated via forelimb grasping task and grip strength in chronic incomplete spinal cord injured rats. Moreover, two different antagonistic muscle responses were also evaluated. Incomplete cervical injury at C4 level showed a significant deficit in motor function because of the disruption of the motor neuronal network.

Previous studies have demonstrated that epidural electrical stimulation in the cervical spinal cord can facilitate reaching and grasping function in the same injury type animals (Alam et al 2017). However, electrical stimulation is an invasive method that requires surgery when a targeted stimulation is needed. Besides, the contacted thin wires can be moved and damage the neuronal tissue to carry out a secondary inflammation to form a tertiary scar. In comparison to electrical stimulation, ultrasound with a low-intensity can be delivered to the nervous tissue to recover the neuronal tract (Tyler et al 2018). LIPUS is one of the choices of neuro-stimulation because of its penetration and modulation capability in the neurons (Blackmore et al 2019). In our experiment skilled motor reaching and grasping task was used to evaluate and compare at different conditions: during- and post- ultrasound stimulation. The effects of ultrasound stimulation on the success rate was found higher during-stimulation compared to post-stimulation. However, after week-3 post-injury, no significant difference was found and the success rate was higher compared to the control group of rats. The possible cause is after 3 weeks the astrocytic scar is become matured and converted to fibrotic scar (Kjell & Olson 2016) and ultrasound could not facilitate the recovery behind the chronic scar. Moreover, at the end of week-6, the success rate was increased during-stim than the post-stimulation success rate. To recover the neuronal tract from injury weekly LIPUS treatment can facilitate grasping function in the injured rats. Previously, it was reported that after crush injury the neuropathic tissue is more sensitive to US than the normal healthy tissue (Ni et al 2017) (Tych et al 2013). The results also reflected in the experiment.

Forelimb grip force measurement is a useful tool for measuring the recovery for incomplete injury (Anderson et al 2005). Likewise, forelimb reaching and grasping task, the task is not skilled (Ahmed et al 2019). The distal flexor muscle is responsible for grasping and gripping ability of rats that are controlled by CST. Moreover, the gripping ability is also determined by some part of the reticulospinal tract that descends in the medial part of the ventral column (Anderson et al 2005). From our experiment, it is also noticeable that after partial injury in control group rats recover the gripping ability. The finding is similar to the result published by Anderson and his colleagues (Anderson et al 2005). The grip force is mainly combined with all forelimb muscle functions that include flexor digitorum, extensor digitorum, brachialis, triceps brachii, etc. Following injury, the forelimb muscles lost their grasping function because of no supraspinal input to the flexor muscle. However, other forelimb muscle function doesnot affect significantly after the injury. Hence, the grip force result is not consistent with the forelimb reaching and grasping task. Moreover, in our experiment, normalized grip force data showed that the force tends to increase in the US group and a significant improvement was found at week-6 compared to the week-1. In addition, at week-6 the grip forces were tested from five rats pre-, during- and postultrasound stimulation (Fig. 26). Although the result was not statistically significant, the rats have shown higher grip forces during ultrasound stimulation. Moreover, the poststimulation grip strength is little higher than the pre-stimulation suggesting the therapeutic effects of our pulsed ultrasound. The two different behavior tasks suggest the therapeutic effect of ultrasound during stimulation is higher than the post-stimulation.

In our study, the EMG data has shown that at week-6 in the control group following injury the muscle activation increased compared to the pre-injury that was previously described by Alam. M., et al., 2017. The hyperexcitation condition of the neural network may cause more energy facilitation in the distal forelimb muscles compared to the immediate after injury. Moreover, in US group antagonistic activity of the two different muscle extensor and flexor was found at week-1 and 2 post-injury. The flexor muscle activity increased after stimulation at week-2 indicating the increase of grasping rate that is similar to the forelimb reaching and grasping success rate (**Fig. 23**). However, after 2 weeks of post-injury, no differences were observed in extensor and flexor muscles before and after stimulation.

The current chapter examined the effect of LIPUS on cervical injured rats. In summary, the LIPUS effect on SCI rats was found higher during and post-stimulation. Moreover, the flexor muscle responses were found higher after the stimulation indicating the effect of LIPUS. However, only the therapeutic ultrasound approach is not enough for functional recovery after cervical cord injury in rats. A combination of repair strategy is much needed for maximum recovery (Olson 2013). Combinatorial approaches such as low doses of pharmacological agents and electrical stimulation have shown functional improvements in SCI animal models and human subjects (Courtine et al 2009, Duru et al 2015, Freyvert et al 2018). A serotonergic against drug-based neuromodulation with electrical stimulation is one of the popular approaches for locomotion recovery in spinal cord injured rats (Courtine et al 2009). As a serotonin agonist, Buspirone previously has shown forelimb functional recovery (Jin et al 2015). However, the dose responses were not studied. To find out the effective dose on cervical cord injured rats next experiment was designed and conducted that described in the following chapter.

Chapter 4: Serotonergic neuromodulation in the injured spinal cord

4.1 Introduction

Spinal cord injury in the cervical cord region damages both sensorimotor and motor function (Freund et al 2012). Moreover, the serotonergic system is disrupted and dysregulated after the injury. Serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine or 5-HT) is a monoaminergic neurotransmitter that plays an important role in the modulation of the neural network and locomotion activity. In addition to the locomotion activity serotonin plays a major role in the gain control of volitional limb movements (Wei et al 2014b). Alteration of this serotonergic system following SCI accountable for various degrees of paralysis (Nardone et al 2015).

Previously, it has shown that serotonin modulates the neuronal pathway by modulating the interneuron and motor neuronal pathway (Schmidt & Jordan 2000). The results suggest that there is a connectivity of supraspinal and interneuronal pathways in spinal circuits. In rat cervical spinal cord, the distribution of serotonin localized in the gray matter VII and X region indicating the forelimb motor control (Newton & Hamill 1988). Moreover, in spinal cord effect of serotonin vary because of the receptor and mode of action. Functionally, 7 receptors of serotonin present that modulate the neuronal activity (Kalinina et al 2019).

Following SCI, systemic application of the targeted serotonin-receptor agonists with other neuromodulatory approaches can facilitate modulation of the neural network (Courtine et al 2009, Musienko et al 2011, van den Brand et al 2012). Among the several receptors $5HT_{2A}$, $5HT_{2C}$ and $5HT_7$ agonists have modulation capability in hind limb stepping (Bos et al 2013, Fouad et al 2010, Liu & Jordan 2005). As a $5HT_2$ receptor agonist quipazine has a

high affinity in the $5HT_{2A}$ and $5HT_{2C}$ receptors, Moreover, 8-hydroxy-2-(di-npropylamino)-tetralin (8-OHDPAT) has also the affinity for $5HT_7$ and $5HT_{1A}$ receptors to modulate the CPG activity (Antri et al 2003, Courtine et al 2009, Sławińska et al 2012). In addition to the systemic administration of 5HT agonist, the grafting brainstem serotonin receptor neurons into the spinal cord can control the locomotion after spinal cord injury. Both $5HT_{2A}$ and $5HT_7$ receptors have a robust influence in controlling the CPG activity in grafted rats (Sławińska et al 2013). Moreover, $5HT_{2A}$ receptors can control motor neuronal activity in addition to CPG control pattern of locomotion. As a receptor activation, $5HT_2$ receptor agonist alone has the potential to facilitate the persistent sodium current inward and firing the motorneuron with and without chronic spinal cord injury (Harvey et al 2006). Although, pharmacological therapy by serotonin agonists has shown improved functional recovery in standing and stepping in SCI paraplegics and limited progress has been made on improving arm and hand functions using such neurochemical modulation (Freyvert et al 2018).

Buspirone, a partial agonists act as a receptor for 5-HT_{1A} and dopamine D₂ autoreceptors. As a weak affinity to 5-HT_2 receptors, Buspirone also used as an anxiolytic drug to improve brain functions through enhancing neural plasticity after injuries or diseases (Loane & Politis 2012). In recent studies on SCI patients, it has been shown that electrical stimulation to the spinal cord, when combined with regular Buspirone administration can restore voluntary control of hand function (Freyvert et al 2018) and locomotor function (Gerasimenko et al 2015). Previous reports have shown that low doses of Buspirone can stimulate the somatodendritic 5-HT_{1A} receptors in an *ex-vivo* experiment from the bovine brain (Peroutka 1985) and can trigger motor activity in rat model (Shireen & Haleem 2005). However, high doses of Buspirone works on dopaminergic neurons in the presynaptic terminal and trigger out its activity (Dhavalshankh et al 2007). In Parkinson's diseases, a dose of 2mg/kg b.w. Buspirone can reduce locomotor activity and has also shown this effect in other neurological disorders (Lundblad et al 2005).

Likewise, 5HT₂ receptor agonist, it has been assumed that Buspirone as a 5HT_{1A} receptor agonist can modulate the interneuronal activity by repetitive firing in chronic conditions (Harvey et al 2006). But the exact dose-response of such monoaminergic drugs on improving arm and hand functions in cervical SCI is unknown. To evaluate this, in the current chapter, I investigated the dose-responses of Buspirone treatment on reaching and grasping function after a cervical spinal cord injury in rats.

4.2 Experimental design

Twenty-four adults healthy female Sprague-Dawley rats (230±20 grams b.w.) were used in this experiment. Adlibitum food and water were provided before starting the pre-injury forelimb reaching and grasping task training. Bodyweight was constantly monitored. The room temperature (24°C) and humidity (40%) maintained according to the guidelines. Animal handling was done for one week- before the forelimb reaching and grasping training as described in **Chapter 3**. The rats were trained to reach and grasp the pellet from the pit platform (**Fig. 14**). Thirteen rats demonstrated a success rate around 70% in the task and the rest showed a minimum 60% success rate (**Fig. 27**).



Fig. 27: Reaching and grasping the learning curve of intact rats (n=17). Significant differences (***P<0.001, one-way ANOVA) were found at day-42 compared to the day-10 of reaching and grasping the success rate (Mean ± SEM).

During the training 30 pellets were provided to grasp pellets from the pit. Successful 6 weeks of training, the best seventeen rats were selected for the SCI experiment (**Fig. 28**). During the surgery, the EMG electrodes were implanted in the preferred paw distal muscles-extensor and flexor digitorum.



Fig. 28: **Experimental design**. Seventeen rats were trained to reach and grasp the pellet for 6 weeks. After skilled reaching and grasping training task, the rats received dorsal funiculus crush at C4 level and subsequent implantation of EMG electrodes in the preferred paw. After one week of recovering from injury, the rats were ranked and divided into three balanced dosages groups of Buspirone; **Group A** with low dose (1.5mg/kg b.w.; n=5), **Group B** with medium dose (2.5mg/kg b.w.; n=6) and **Group C** with high dose (3.5mg/kg b.w.; n=6). Weekly forelimb reaching task and grip strength tests were done for week-6 continuously. The animals were then tested at week-9 and finally, the drug was withdrawn and retested at week-11.

The surgical procedure and EMG electrodes implantation procedure is the same protocol as mentioned in chapter-3. After surgery, the rats were placed in an incubator by administering the analgesic and antibiotic. The rats were then moved to a single individual home cage. Fresh fruits and juice were provided from the cage early recovery.

4.3 Drug treatments

At day-7, the rats were tested to reach and grasp the sugar pellet. The rats were then ranked and divided into three balanced dosages groups- **Group A** with low dose (1.5mg/kg b.w.; n=5), **Group B** with medium dose (2.5mg/kg b.w.; n=6) and **Group C** with high dose (3.5mg/kg b.w.; n=6). Buspirone (Tocris®, UK) was previously prepared by dissolving 1mg/1ml ultrapure distilled water (Invitrogen®, USA) and administered intraperitoneally into different doses groups of SCI rats up to 9 weeks post-injury.

Within 1 hour of Buspirone administration, the behavior tests and EMG recording were done. Each animal was videotaped from the front while retrieving food pellets with a video camera. After each forelimb reaching and grasping task and EMG recordings, the grip strength test of the rats was recorded once per week for 9 weeks, as described in **Fig. 28**. To see the long term effect of the drug, after 9 weeks, the drug administration was ceased,

and the behavior tests and electromyography recordings were recorded only at week-11 post-injury.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Pre-injury vs Post-injury success rate



Fig. 29: Pre-injury vs post-injury success rate. After the injury, the success rate dropped significantly (***p < 0.001, paired t-test).

Following injury, the animals lost the grasping function. However, the animals can place their forelimb in the food pit and can use it as locomotion. The post-injury forelimb post-injury forelimb grasping success rates were calculated and compared with the pre-injured animals. Forelimb reaching scores dropped significantly 1 week- after the cervical cord injury (68.82 ± 2.33 vs 2.05 ± 1.25 , p < 0.05; paired t-test) (**Fig. 29**).

4.4.2 Low dosage of Buspirone facilitate forelimb grasping function

All rats, according to their different doses groups, the drug Buspirone was administered for 9 weeks. The grasping success rate was measured after the drug administration. The animals in Group-A and B started to increase their grasping function at week-4 and 5. The success rate of each group of animals was compared with week-1. In **Group-A**, differences were found at week-4 and-5, respectively (40.33 ± 6.33 and 41.99 ± 4.89 , **p < 0.05, one way ANOVA). From week-6 to -11 a significant difference was found compared to the post-injury week-1 (47.33 ± 6.53 , 46.33 ± 5.22 and 45.33 ± 4.54 ,**p < 0.05, ANOVA) (**Fig. 30a**).



Fig. 30: Reaching and grasping scores of three different groups after Buspirone administration. a) Mean (\pm SEM) success rates of Group-A animals. Week-1 vs week-4 and 5 (**p < 0.05, one-way ANOVA, Friedman test). Week-1 vs week-6,9 and 11 (***p < 0.05, one-way ANOVA, Friedman test). b) Mean (\pm SEM) success rates of Group-B animals. Week-1 vs week-4 and 5 (**p < 0.05, one-way ANOVA, Friedman test). Week-1 vs week-6 and 9 (**p < 0.05, one-way ANOVA, Friedman test). Week-1 vs week-1 (*p < 0.05, one-way ANOVA, Friedman test). Week-1 vs week-1 vs week-1 (*p < 0.05, one-way ANOVA, Friedman test). Week-1 vs week-1 (*p < 0.05, one-way ANOVA, Friedman test). Week-1 vs week-1 (*p < 0.05, one-way ANOVA, Friedman test). Week-1 vs week-11 (*p < 0.05, one-way ANOVA, Friedman test). Week-1 vs week-11 (*p < 0.05, one-way ANOVA, Friedman test). Week-1 vs week-11 (*p > 0.05, one-way ANOVA, Friedman test). Week-1 vs week-11 (*p > 0.05, one-way ANOVA, Friedman test). Week-11 (*p > 0.05, one-way ANOVA, Friedman test).

< 0.05, one-way ANOVA, Friedman test). c) Mean (±SEM) success rates of Group-C animals. No significant difference was found. d) Overall success rates of all three groups.

Moreover, **Group-B** rats significantly improved the forelimb grasping function after week-3 (42.77 \pm 9.40, 42.21 \pm 8.57 and 39.72 \pm 11.01; ***p < 0.05, ANOVA) compared to week-1 (Fig. 30b). At week-9 (35.83 ± 12.68) and 11 (31.38 ± 9.23) behavior test was done to see the long-term dose effect of the 2mg/kg b.w. of Buspirone. The success rate dropped at week-11 after the cessation of Buspirone administration. The animals in Group-C did not show any significant improvement after the administration of Buspirone at 3.5 mg/kg b.w (Fig. 30c). The success rates of all three groups were compared with each other (Fig. 30d). No significant differences were found. However, in Group-A rat's higher success rates were found at week-11 compared to the other two groups. In Group-B and C the scores increased after 2 weeks. However, in Group-B rats, the reaching scores increased up to 5 weeks (58.68 \pm 12.21). At week-6 the success rate dropped (39.65 \pm 11.82) while the **Group-C** rats were found a little improvement (44.16 \pm 19.46). Moreover, the **Group-A** rats have shown improvement of grasping function after week-3 to 9 (24.22 \pm 11.61, 63.53 \pm 5.90, 69.97 \pm 5.62, 80.25 \pm 11.47 and 78.44 \pm 9.07) and it also persists after cessation of Buspirone administration (77.73 \pm 10.40). In addition, Group-B and C rats the reaching scores dropped after Buspirone withdrawal (40.11 \pm 11.87 and 34.22 \pm 16.95). At the end of week-11, low dose rats Group-A showed an average of 60% improvement over medium dose **Group-B** to high dose **Group-C** rats.

4.4.3 Low dosage of Buspirone treatment improves distal muscle co-ordination

Raw EMG signals from the distal forelimb muscles- extensor and flexor digitorum muscles were recorded during grasping task (**Fig. 31**). The EMG signals were recorded during

week-1 of post-injury after the Buspirone administration. Until week-6, grasping task was carried out weekly. After week-6 the grasping task was done only at week-9 and withdrawal of the drug at week -11 and subsequently, EMGs were recorded. Videotape footage of the forelimb reaching task of each rat was examined frame by frame to identify the components of the grasping.





Fig. 31: Effects of different dosages of Buspirone on forelimb a) Extensor digitorum and b) Flexor digitorum muscles during reaching and grasping task.



Fig. 32: Normalized AUC value of distal muscles. Normalized area-under-the-curve (AUC) of a) extensor and b) flexor muscles were recorded during the single pellet grasping task (n=30 trials/animal) after Buspirone administration in three different groups. Two animals were selected from each group for the analysis. EMG patterns over time were evaluated by ANOVA. Data are represented as mean and SEM value.

In **Group-A** and -**C** the normalized AUC value of extensor muscle increase gradually after week-6 (**Fig. 32a**). The increasing pattern is persistent even after the withdrawal of the drug. In contrast, **Group-B** rats because of the spasticity in extensor muscle the value decreased. The dose was not enough to reduce the extensor muscle spasticity. Distinct responses of flexor muscle were found in each group compared to the extensor muscle. In **Group-A** rats after week-6, the flexor muscle response dropped at week-9 and dramatically increased at week-11 after the withdrawal of the drug. The finding indicates a low dose (1.5mg/kg b.w) of Buspirone has a long term effect of flexor muscle recovery. In contrast, **Group-B** and **C** rats the responses of flexor muscle increased gradually until week-9 and

dropped after the cessation of the drug administration. However, no significant difference was found in each group (**Fig. 32b**).

4.4.4 Low-dosage of Buspironetreatment improves forelimb grip strength

Post-injury average maximum grip force of **Group A** rats were recorded 6.83 N (week-1) to 17.80 N (week-5) (**Fig. 33a**). For **Group B** rats, the values were recorded from 4.95 N (week-1) to 13.42 N (week-5) (**Fig. 33b**). In **Group C** the values increased from 3.34 N (week-1) to 12.15 N (week-4) (**Fig. 33C**).



Fig. 33: Maximum grip force of three different groups after Buspironeadministration. a) Mean (\pm SEM) maximum grip force of Group A rats. A significant improvement was found at week-11 (*p<0.05, one way ANOVA, Tukeys post-hoc test) compared to week-2 and week-9 vs week-11 (*p<0.05, one way ANOVA, Tukeys post-hoc test) b) Mean (\pm SEM) maximum grip force value of Group B animals. c) Mean (\pm SEM) maximum grip force value of Group B animals. c) Mean (\pm SEM) maximum grip force of Group C animals. The high doses group rats showed a significant improvement at week-6 and week-11(*p<0.05, one way ANOVA, Tukeys post-hoc test) compared to the week-1; week-1 vs week-9 (**p<0.01, one way ANOVA, Tukeys post-hoc test). d) Mean (\pm SEM) maximum grip force of three groups. Group-A showed significant grip strength at

week-5 (**P < 0.01 one way ANOVA, Tukeys post-hoc test) and week-11 (*P < 0.05, one way ANOVA, Tukeys post-hoc test) compared to the **Group-C**.

However, at week-6 and 9, the value dropped to 14.28N and 14.09N, respectively in **Group-A** rats (**Fig. 33a**). A similar effect of Buspironewas also found in **Group-B** and **C** rats. In **Group-B** rats, the value was boosted from 4.95N (week-1) to 13.42N (week-6) and dropped at week-9 to 12.13N (**Fig. 33b**). Moreover, the **Group-C** animals maximum value lifted from 3.34N (week-1) to 12.15N (week-4) and dropped to 10.77N (**Fig. 33c**). While at week-11, after the withdrawal of the drug the values were lifted to higher in all groups of animals respectively (17.61N, 13.52N, and 11.24N) (**Fig. 33d**).

4.4.4 Normalized success rate vs grip force

No significant relation was found between the forelimb reaching score and grip force in the early post-injury weeks. In **Group-A** rats a consistent pattern of recovery was found in week-6, 9 and 11 (**Fig. 34a**). However, in



Fig. 34: Normalized success rate vs. normalized grip force at different post-injury weeks. a-c) The maximum grip force and the success rate was normalized and plotted for each rat at week 6,9 and 11. d) Overall relationship of three groups at week-6,9 and 11.

Group-B rats recovery of the motor task increased at week-6 at the optimum level and after two weeks of the interval the improvement decreased (**Fig. 34b**). The finding indicates that each week motor task has an influence on the functional recovery. After 9 weeks of withdrawal of Buspironethe recovery of **Group-B** rats decreased a significant way. Moreover, at week-11 in **Group-B** one of the rat did not improve. Likewise, the **Group-A** rats, **Group-C** rats has a consistent pattern of recovery (**Fig. 34c**). However, two animal didn't improve their success rate, although a little improvement was found in grip strength.

4.5 Summary and discussion

As a serotonin agonist, Buspirone is an anxiolytic drug that has a high affinity for $5HT_{1A}$ receptors. Moreover, some antagonistic property of the drug was found in the dopamine

receptor (Loane & Politis 2012). In tetraplegic patients, Buspirone has shown improvement of forelimb grip strength along with electric stimulation (Freyvert et al 2018). However, the effect of the drug was not strong enough to carry out the recovery. A preliminary study has shown that as a serotonin agonist Buspirone can significantly modulate the serotonergic neurotransmission system after spinal injury in rat model to improve the forelimb reaching task (Jin et al 2015). However, the muscle coordination of different doses during the grasping task has not been discovered. In this chapter, I have demonstrated that different dosages of Buspirone, a partial serotonin agonist have distinct effects on the forelimb functional recovery after a dorsal funiculus injury in rat model.

A recent study of Buspirone has shown an acute effect on hindlimb stepping, paw placement, facilitate locomotion (Renaud Jeffrey-Gauthier et al 2018) and elevated frequency-dependent depression of H-reflex after a complete spinal cord lesion in mouse model (Develle & Leblond 2020). Comprising this study suggests that the role of serotonergic agonist drug Buspirone on improving the injured circuitry of locomotion.

A limited study has been conducted on the dose-dependent effects of Buspirone in animal model. Earlier results have shown the effects of the doses of Buspirone on behavior and cerebral glucose metabolism in rat model. A low dose (0.4 mg/kg) reduced cerebral metabolic rates for glucose in rats compared to the high doses (4 and 40 mg/kg). It was shown that the low dose of Buspirone can preferentially activate the 5-HT1A receptor (Freo et al 1995). For pain, the dose of 0.1 mg/kg of Buspirone reduced pain threshold in the hot plate test while higher-doses (1.0 and 2.0 mg/kg) increased it (Haleem et al 2018). As a nootropic drug, Buspirone can also improve the acquisition and retention of memory in the water maze test in rat model. However, higher doses (1.0 and 2.0 mg/kg) showed a

distinct effect (Haleem et al 2018). The dose-dependent event of Buspirone has an influence in the brain striatum. A low dose (1 mg/kg) Buspirone stimulates 5-HT1A receptors and decreases striatal metabolism compared to the higher dose (5 mg/kg). The finding also suggests that a low dose could help to release dopaminergic neurons that could be useful in reducing parkinsonian-like effects (Shireen & Haleem 2005).

In Parkinson's disease, a 1mg/kg b.w of dose did not impair the rotarod performance, while higher doses (2 and 4 mg/kg b.w.) significantly reduced the rotarod performance 25% and 20%, respectively (Dekundy et al 2007). Buspirone has an influential role in dopamine-dependent behavior in rats. A low dose of Buspirone can significantly increase the synthesis and availability of dopamine in the pre-synaptic terminal, whereas the higher dose can only block the postsynaptic dopaminergic receptors (Dhavalshankh et al 2007). These findings emphasize the importance of Buspirone doses in neurologic disorders.

The effect of different Buspirone doses has a robust effect on modulating the neural circuits following a cervical cord injury in rats. A dose of 1.5mg/kg b.w. for 9 weeks showed significant improvement compare to the week-1 post-injury. From week-7 to 8, the animals reaching and grip strength were not tested to ensure the spontaneous neuronal recovery might not have any influence. Moreover, **Group-A** rats at week-9 and the success rate was also found the same as week-6; even after withdrawal of the Buspirone, success rate and grip strength test were almost consistent with a slight decrease compared to the week-9, while in other groups dropped in a continuous manner. The distal forelimb muscles during reaching and grasping were increased in Group-A rats at week-11 while in **Group-C** animal the muscle response decreased after the withdrawal of the drug. The results suggest

that a low dosage of Buspirone can modulate the supraspinal network and has a robust effect in grasping function.

The main finding of the study described in this chapter is that the low dose of Buspirone can markedly improve the success rate of grasping food pellets and forelimb muscle synergies in rats. Furthermore, the improvement is consistent even after 2 weeks of withdrawal of the drug. However, only the Buspirone administration cannot facilitate recovery. To find out the maximum synergistic effect of US and drug-based combinatory neuromodulatory approach, the next experiment was conducted that described in the following chapter.

Chapter 5: Ultrasound and drug-based combinatory neuromodulation for SCI recovery

5.1 Introduction

Non-invasive mechanical neuromodulation via LIPUS has shown positive effects on axonal regeneration and improvement of the rate of nerve autograft after peripheral nerve injury (Chang et al 2005, Crisci & Ferreira 2002). LIPUS treatment has also shown enhanced viability and proliferation of induced pluripotent stem cell-derived – neural crest stem cells in cultured condition (Lv et al 2013, Zhang et al 2009).

From recent studies, it is found that single modal therapy for SCI hardly results in any significant functional improvements (Olson 2013). Thus, to obtain better functional recovery, a combination of different treatment modalities are being increasingly applied in experimental studies with promising results (Alto et al 2009, Courtine & Sofroniew 2019, Hutson et al 2019). In orthopedic disorders, synergistic effects of LIPUS and stem cells can enhance bone growth in fracture condition by stimulating some growth factors (El-Mowafi & Mohsen 2005, Hiyama et al 2007, Nolte et al 2001). As described in chapter 3, LIPUS following cervical cord injury has shown promising results in cervical cord injured rats. The neuromodulatory effect of therapeutic ultrasound thus has a significant role in the spinal cord repair following an injury. However, the effect appeared not strong enough (see chapter 3) for the injured rat to recover the function significantly. Hence, the current study examines if a combined effect a serotonin agonist drug Buspirone along with LIPUS can significantly improve forelimb motor function in SCI rats. Buspirone has already shown significant improvement in the spinal cord recovery in SCI rats (Jin et al 2015). However,

the optimum dosage for forelimb functional recovery was unknown. In this thesis, I have determined an optimum dose of Buspirone for forelimb fine motor control recovery (see **Chapter 4**). It was found that a low dose of 1.5 mg/kg b.w. is more beneficial for the recovery of forelimb functions that the higher doses (2.5 and 3.5 mg/kg b.w). So, in the present study, I hypothesized that the LIPUS and Buspirone (1.5 mg/kg b.w.; i.p.) may provide a better recovery from the cervical cord injury in rats. This will help to explore efficacy of a novel combinatorial approach of ultrasound and drug treatment for SCI.

In this chapter, the effects of ultrasound stimulation and drug-based novel combined approach will be investigated to find the recovery after an incomplete cervical injury in rats.

5.2 Experimental design

Twenty-four adults healthy female Sprague-Dawley rats (230±40 grams b.w.) were used in this experiment. Adlibitum food and water were provided before starting the pre-injury forelimb reaching and grasping task training. Bodyweight was constantly monitored. The room temperature (24°C) and humidity (40%) maintained according to the guidelines. Animal handling was done for one week- before the forelimb reaching and grasping training as described in **Chapter 3** (**Fig. 35**).



Fig. 35: **Experimental setup**. 24 rats were trained for six weeks for forelimb reaching and grasping. After familiarization, skilled learning and accustomed to the task 18 rats achieved average 65% success rate at week-5 of training and included for the SCI surgery and EMG electrodes implantation. After one week of recovering from the injury 18 rats have shown interest in the forelimb reaching and according to the success rate ranking, the rats were categorized into three balanced groups– ultrasound stimulation group (US, n=6), Combination treatment group (US + drug treatment, n=7) and Control group (n=5) for the evaluation of the combination effect of therapeutic ultrasound and the drug in injured cervical cord.



Fig. 36: Reaching and grasping the learning curve of intact rats (n=18). Significant differences (***P<0.001, one-way ANOVA) were found at day-35 compared to the day-10 of reaching and grasping the success rate (Mean ± SEM).

During the training 20 pellets were provided to grasp pellets from the pit. Successful 5 weeks of training, the best eighteen rats were selected for the SCI experiment (**Fig. 36**). However, after the injury, three rats did not attempt the forelimb reaching and grasping tasks and excluded from the test. However, the grip force data were recorded from all the 18 rats; US group (n=6), Combined group (n=7) and Control group (n=5). The surgical procedure, preparation of the ultrasound probe and EMG electrodes implantation procedure are the same as described in **Chapter 3**.

5.3 US stimulation and drug treatment

After 5 minutes of therapeutic stimulation, the behavior task was conducted by using the parameters and intensities mentioned in chapter 3. Ultrasound stimulation was delivered for 10 minutes during the reaching and grasping behavior task. A dose of 1.5 mg/kg b.w of Buspirone was administered (i.p.) in the combination group rats daily for 6 weeks.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Improvement of forelimb fine motor function

After recovering from the injury, food restrictions were provided to the rats to perform the reaching and grasping task. Buspirone was administered at a dose of 1.5mg/kg b.w. every day for 6 weeks.



Fig. 37: Average success rates (mean ±SEM; US, n=6, combined, n=4 and control, n=5) of reaching and grasping tasks of three groups of rat. The solid pink line indicates the success rates of the ultrasound group rats when receiving the ultrasound stimulation and dot line is the immediately after stimulation success rates. Solid blue line indicates the success rates of the combination group rats when receiving the ultrasound stimulation and dot line is the immediately after stimulation success rate. The black line indicates the success rate of the control group of rats that did not receive any stimulation and drug treatment. At week- 3 during ultrasound stimulation, significant († p < 0.05, two-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc test) improvement of reaching score was found in US group compared to the control group. During stimulation the success rate of (**p < 0.01 and *p < 0.05 two-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc test). However, at week-5 and 6, the post-stimulation success rate was found significant (††P < 0.01, two-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc test). However, at week-5 and 6, the post-stimulation success rate was found significant (††P < 0.01, two-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc test). However, at week-5 and 6, the post-stimulation success rate was found significant (††P < 0.01, two-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc test). However, at week-5 and 6, the post-stimulation success rate was found significant (††P < 0.01, two-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc test). However, at week-5 and 6, the post-stimulation success rate was found significant (††P < 0.01, two-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc test). However, at week-5 and 6, the post-stimulation success rate was found significant (††P < 0.01, two-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc test) compare to the control group rats.

The success rate in US stimulation group and combined group were found higher compared to the control group reaching and grasping success from week 1 to 6 post-injury treatment. A significant improvement was found at week-3 during ultrasound stimulation (39.167 \pm 3.96 vs 11.667 \pm 5.27; p =0.0079) (**Fig. 37**). However, after week-3 the success rate dropped in US stimulation group and did not show any significant improvement until week-6. Conversely, the combined group rats improved significant forelimb functional recovery in a consistent manner compared to the US stimulation groups, at week-5 and 6 (48.75 \pm 8.98 vs 12.50 \pm 5.73; p =0.0097 and 50.00 \pm 10.80 vs 15.00 \pm 6.83; p =0.0139) during stimulation compared to the control group. Post–stimulation, the improvement was also found significantly higher at week -5 and 6 compared to the control group (50.00 \pm 10.00 vs 12.50 \pm 5.73; p =0.0067 and 52.50 \pm 11.08 vs 15.00 \pm 6.83; p =0.0067).

5.4.2 EMG activity

At week-1 and 5 of post-injury EMG signals were recorded from three representative rats. The raw figures are presented in **Fig. 38 and 39**.



Fig. 38: Raw EMG signals from extensor muscle at a) 1-week of post-injury and b) 5weeks of post-injury from three rats presented in the figure.



Fig. 39: Raw EMG signals from flexor muscle at a) 1-week of post-injury and b) 5weeks of post-injury from three rats are presented.

a)





Fig. 40: Normalized area-under-the-curve (AUC) of EMG signals from a) extensor digitorum and b) flexor digitorum muscles of three group of rats during the single pellet reaching task (n=10 trials/rat). A significant difference was found at 5 weeks of post-injury in combined group of extensor muscle (*p < 0.05 two-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc test). Data are presented as mean and SEM.

To calculate the normalized AUC of EMG signals of extensor and flexor digitorum muscle the values were normalized as described in **Chapter 3**. From US and combined group, the normalized values were compared to the pre- and post-stim with the control group at 1 and 5 weeks of post-injury (**Fig. 40**). At 1 week of post-injury, the normalized value of extensor muscle decreased after the simulation in combined and US groups. Moreover, a significant decrease of muscle activity was found at 5-weeks of post-injury in the extensor muscle compared to the pre-stimulation (0.82 ± 0.09 vs 0.15 ± 0.05 ; p= 0.0025) (**Fig. 40a**). A similar response was found in the flexor muscle at week-1 in the extensor muscle. However, 5 weeks of post-injury the flexor muscle values were increased in the US group and decreased in combined group rats after stimulation.

5.4.3 Maximum grip force

After each week of reaching and grasping task maximum grip force was determined as described in **Chapter-3**. The maximum grip force of US group rats was found 8.75 N (week-1) to 14.56 N (week-6). For combined group rats, the value was from 8.72 N (week-1) to 13.58 N (week-6). In the control group rats a similar increasing trend, from 7.63 N (week-1) to 13.79 N (week-6) (**Fig. 41**). This reconfirms what was found in **Chapter 3**, that the forelimb grip strength may not be dependent on the treatment modalities.



Fig. 41: Maximum grip force of three different groups (mean ±SEM; US, n=6, combined, n=7 and control, n=5). At week-1 of injury, the grip force dropped significantly compared to the pre-injured condition in three group of rats (US group, 21.93 \pm 0.93 vs 8.75 \pm 0.17; Combined group, 20.55 \pm 1.24 vs 8.22 \pm 0.79 and control group

 20.28 ± 1.68 vs 7.63 ± 0.78 ; ***p < 0.001, two-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc test). At week-6 US group rats improved the grip force (*p < 0.05 two-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc test) compared to their week-1 of injury.

5.5 Discussion

In this chapter, a synergistic effect of LIPUS and serotonergic drug has shown a significant role in modulating neural networks after cervical cord injury and improving functions. The maximum success rate of US group rats was found at week-3, however, afterward, the success rates decreased. The findings of forelimb reaching and grasping task of US group stimulation support the result of Chapter 3 of the US stimulation rats. Similar to other single treatment approaches, LIPUS stimulation as a single approach could not facilitate significant functional recovery in chronic condition of SCI, in this case after 3 weeks postinjury. Several reasons can be hypothesized. One reason could be the formation of scar in the injured region which may prevent the LIPUS effect. After an incomplete spinal cord injury in rats the astrocytic scar has formed and become mature after 2-3 weeks of injury (Kjell & Olson 2016). In chronic condition, the mature scar later developed to fibrotic scar after infiltration of fibroblasts. It can be assumed from the experiment that after 3 weeks of injury the intensity could not facilitate the recovery because of the chronic scar. Moreover, in a previous study it has already shown that after three weeks, ultrasound driven piezoelectric voltage dropped because of the acoustic impedance of the growing scar around the ultrasound probe (Li et al 2020). The same events may have happened in the US stimulation rats. In another aspect, during and post-ultrasound stimulation no big differences were found throughout the period. To get the most from the neuromodulation, even for the ultrasound stimulation was given for 5 min before the reaching task. It is

expected that the time is enough to neuromodulate the cervical cord and improve forelimb function. Similar to other neuromodulation strategies, the stimulation effect may last for several minutes post stimulation. To answer this critical question, after turning off the ultrasound stimulation reaching score was measured immediately. This scoring lasted upto about 5 min post-stimulation. The non-significant difference between the scores during and post-stimulation suggest the stimulation was neuromodulatory. The combination group rats shown a consistent recovery in the forelimb reaching and grasping task similar to the Buspirone treated rats mentioned in the **Chapter 4**. So, the improvement following 4 weeks post-injury maybe mainly due to the drug.



Fig. 42: Comparison of ultrasound group (n=6, during stimulation), Buspirone group (n=5, 1.5 mg/kg b.w.) and Combination group (n=4, during stimulation) rats forelimb reaching and grasping success rates (data presented as mean ± SEM value).

The comparison of three different groups of rats forelimb reaching and grasping tasks success rates are presented in **Fig. 42**. In combination group rats the forelimb reaching and grasping task success rates at week-6 is similar to the finding of low dose of Buspirone treated rats. However, in combined group of rats week-1 to 3 the success rates is much higher compare to the low dose of Buspirone treated rats of **Chapter 4**. But, from week-4 the success rate is almost similar to the low doses of Buspirone administered rats. A little improvement of success rate was found at week-6 in combined group of rats compared to the low dose of Buspirone treated rats. This comparison suggests that the LIPUS and Buspirone has a synergistic effect on the forelimb reaching and grasping task recovery in injured rats.

Chapter 6: Conclusions and future directions

Conclusions

A majority of human SCI involved dysfunction of the upper extremity. To restore upper extremity functions in SCI tetraplegics, several strategies have been investigated over the years with little or no improvements for severely injured patients. In this aspect, experimental animal model of rat plays a major role to translate the basic research to human. In the recent year's ultrasound neuromodulation has emerged as new prospect in neural rehabilitation research. Spinal cord neuromodulation via LIPUS is still unexplored avenue in SCI recovery research. Furthermore, combination therapy of non-invasive neurostimulation by LIPUS and serotonergic against neuromodulation is entirely a unique approach. The findings of this thesis includes possible functional recovery by ultrasound spinal cord stimulation and a definite recovery of forelimb functions when the ultrasound stimulation is combined with the serotonin drug-based neuromodulation in incomplete cervical cord injured rats. Based on these results, it can be stated that this new and innovative approach will open a new era in spinal cord injury repair research and translation.

Limitations and future directions

Finding recoveries after the loss of upper extremity functions due to a cervical injury in the recent years drew more attention because of high clinical significance. Following skill training, rats used their forelimbs for feeding after a successful grasping of food palate. The reaching and grasping behavior in rats is quite similar to humans. This allows the behavioral task to be a powerful tool to translate in clinical conditions (Klein et al 2012). Although, the finesse digit control is less developed in rodents than primates (Courtine et al

2007). The use of non-human primates could be more useful to investigate the behavioral and electrophysiological changes. Histological evaluation was not included in the present study. However, histological data cannot give the functional information of neural activity and muscle synergies (Lavrov et al 2006). To address this, longitudinal electrophysiological measurements were conducted in the present thesis study to find out the extensor and flexor muscle activities during the behavioral task.

Therapeutic ultrasound treatment as a neuromodulation is a promising tool in the several neurological disorders (Leinenga et al 2016). Very few studies had been conducted of ultrasound stimulation in rat injury model (Blackmore et al 2019). Most previous studies of ultrasound stimulation were related to the brain and peripheral nerve stimulation (Kim et al 2015, Mehić et al 2014, Ni et al 2017, Tych et al 2013, Younan et al 2013). However, the responses of ultrasound stimulation are not known in the rat spinal cord. For the first time, in this thesis, I have explored the effects of therapeutic ultrasound stimulation in rat spinal cord after an experimental injury. In combined group, only four rats showed interest in reaching and grasping task. Thus the samples were not large enough to show the significance for all the post-injury weeks. With a larger sample size, the result will be more conclusive. Another limitation of this study is the potential variability of the custom made ultrasound probe. Although the intensity of the implanted ultrasound probe of all the rats were in the range of 60-70 mW/cm², it is difficult to ensure if the intensity values remained the same for all implanted probes throughout the implant period. With a more reliable rigorously tested ultrasound probe can be used, the results will be more accurate. In previous study in cat model it was shown that ultrasound has a stimulation effect on spinal reflex (Shealy & Henneman 1962). In the present study, we did not investigate the

modulation effect of therapeutic ultrasound in the spinal reflex. Hence, more studies are needed to investigate the ultrasound effect on spinal circuits.

It was also discovered that ultrasound with serotonergic agonist drug has more therapeutic effects than sole approach of ultrasound stimulation. However, the mechanism of this recovery is still known and beyond the scope of this thesis. In the present thesis, the effect of therapeutic ultrasound stimulation was explored on cervical injured rats reflected in behavioral and electrophysiological studies. However, a histological examination whether the therapy induces a permanent change to the injured nervous system or not was not evaluated. Alteration of descending tract information could give the information of the recovery mechanism.

The thermal effect of ultrasound was not evaluated in this study. Previously, in brain stimulation, it was shown that a short period of LIPUS stimulation can produce mechanical bio-effects through the skull by producing the thermal effect (Legon et al 2014). It has been assumed that thermal effect of ultrasound has a significant role could modulate the neural network. More studies are needed to understand the thermal mechanisms of ultrasound neuromodulation in the cellular and molecular changes of neurons and neural circuits.

References

- Abdullahi D, Annuar AA, Mohamad M, Aziz I, Sanusi J. 2017. Experimental spinal cord trauma: a review of mechanically induced spinal cord injury in rat models. *Reviews in the neurosciences* 28: 15-20
- Ahmed RU, Alam M, Zheng Y-P. 2019. Experimental spinal cord injury and behavioral tests in laboratory rats. *Heliyon* 5: e01324
- Alam M, Garcia-Alias G, Jin B, Keyes J, Zhong H, et al. 2017. Electrical neuromodulation of the cervical spinal cord facilitates forelimb skilled function recovery in spinal cord injured rats. *Exp Neurol* 291: 141-50
- Alam M, Garcia-Alias G, Shah PK, Gerasimenko Y, Zhong H, et al. 2015. *Evaluation of optimal electrode configurations for epidural spinal cord stimulation in cervical spinal cord injured rats.* 50-57 pp.
- Alam M, Ling YT, Wong AYL, Zhong H, Edgerton VR, Zheng Y-P. 2020. Reversing 21 years of chronic paralysis via non-invasive spinal cord neuromodulation: a case study. *Annals of Clinical and Translational Neurology* 7: 829-38
- Alam M, Rodrigues W, Pham BN, Thakor NV. 2016. Brain-machine interface facilitated neurorehabilitation via spinal stimulation after spinal cord injury: Recent progress and future perspectives. *Brain Research* 1646: 25-33
- Alexander K, B. DS. 2012. Analysis of Skilled Forelimb Movement in Rats: The Single Pellet Reaching Test and Staircase Test. *Current Protocols in Neuroscience* 58: 8.28.1-8.28.15
- Alto LT, Havton LA, Conner JM, Hollis Ii ER, Blesch A, Tuszynski MH. 2009. Chemotropic guidance facilitates axonal regeneration and synapse formation after spinal cord injury. *Nature Neuroscience* 12: 1106-13
- Anderson KD, Gunawan A, Steward O. 2005. Quantitative assessment of forelimb motor function after cervical spinal cord injury in rats: Relationship to the corticospinal tract. *Experimental Neurology* 194: 161-74
- Angeli CA, Boakye M, Morton RA, Vogt J, Benton K, et al. 2018. Recovery of Over-Ground Walking after Chronic Motor Complete Spinal Cord Injury. New England Journal of Medicine 379: 1244-50
- Angeli CA, Edgerton VR, Gerasimenko YP, Harkema SJ. 2014. Altering spinal cord excitability enables voluntary movements after chronic complete paralysis in humans. *Brain* 137: 1394-409
- Antri M, Mouffle C, Orsal D, Barthe J-Y. 2003. 5-HT1A receptors are involved in short- and longterm processes responsible for 5-HT-induced locomotor function recovery in chronic spinal rat. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 18: 1963-72
- Arthur J. Vander JHS, Dorothy S. Luciano. 2001. *Human Physiology: The Mechanisms of Body Function*. McGraw Hill.
- Arvanian VL, Schnell L, Lou L, Golshani R, Hunanyan A, et al. 2009. CHRONIC SPINAL HEMISECTION IN RATS INDUCES A PROGRESSIVE DECLINE IN TRANSMISSION IN UNINJURED FIBERS TO MOTONEURONS. *Experimental neurology* 216: 471-80
- Assinck P, Duncan GJ, Hilton BJ, Plemel JR, Tetzlaff W. 2017. Cell transplantation therapy for spinal cord injury. *Nat Neurosci* 20: 637-47
- Awad A, Levi R, Lindgren L, Hultling C, Westling G, et al. 2015. Preserved somatosensory conduction in a patient with complete cervical spinal cord injury. *J Rehabil Med* 47: 426-31
- Bamford JA, Mushahwar VK. 2011. Intraspinal microstimulation for the recovery of function following spinal cord injury. *Progress in brain research* 194: 227-39
- Basso DM. 2004. Behavioral testing after spinal cord injury: congruities, complexities, and controversies. *Journal of neurotrauma* 21: 395-404
- Basso DM, Beattie MS, Bresnahan JC. 1995. A sensitive and reliable locomotor rating scale for open field testing in rats. *Journal of neurotrauma* 12: 1-21
- Bertelli JA, Mira JC. 1995. The grasping test: a simple behavioral method for objective quantitative assessment of peripheral nerve regeneration in the rat. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods* 58: 151-55
- Blackmore J, Shrivastava S, Sallet J, Butler CR, Cleveland RO. 2019. Ultrasound Neuromodulation: A Review of Results, Mechanisms and Safety. Ultrasound in Medicine & Biology 45: 1509-36
- Bos R, Sadlaoud K, Boulenguez P, Buttigieg D, Liabeuf S, et al. 2013. Activation of 5-HT2A receptors upregulates the function of the neuronal K-Cl cotransporter KCC2. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences 110: 348-53
- Bregman BS, Coumans JV, Dai HN, Kuhn PL, Lynskey J, et al. 2002. Transplants and neurotrophic factors increase regeneration and recovery of function after spinal cord injury. *Progress in brain research* 137: 257-73
- Brosamle C, Schwab ME. 1997. Cells of origin, course, and termination patterns of the ventral, uncrossed component of the mature rat corticospinal tract. *The Journal of comparative neurology* 386: 293-303

- Bydon M, Dietz AB, Goncalves S, Moinuddin FM, Alvi MA, et al. 2020. CELLTOP Clinical Trial:
 First Report From a Phase 1 Trial of Autologous Adipose Tissue–Derived Mesenchymal
 Stem Cells in the Treatment of Paralysis Due to Traumatic Spinal Cord Injury. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings* 95: 406-14
- Castro MJ, Apple DF, Jr., Staron RS, Campos GE, Dudley GA. 1999. Influence of complete spinal cord injury on skeletal muscle within 6 mo of injury. *Journal of applied physiology* (*Bethesda*, *Md*. : 1985) 86: 350-8
- Chan CC, Khodarahmi K, Liu J, Sutherland D, Oschipok LW, et al. 2005. Dose-dependent beneficial and detrimental effects of ROCK inhibitor Y27632 on axonal sprouting and functional recovery after rat spinal cord injury. *Experimental neurology* 196: 352-64
- Chang C-J, Hsu S-h, Lin F-t, Chang H, Chang C-S. 2005. Low-intensity-ultrasound–accelerated nerve regeneration using cell-seeded poly(D,L-lactic acid-co-glycolic acid) conduits: An in vivo and in vitro study. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part B: Applied Biomaterials* 75B: 99-107
- Chao MV. 2003. Neurotrophins and their receptors: a convergence point for many signalling pathways. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience* 4: 299-309
- Chen SJ, Kao CL, Chang YL, Yen CJ, Shui JW, et al. 2007. Antidepressant administration modulates neural stem cell survival and serotoninergic differentiation through bcl-2. *Current neurovascular research* 4: 19-29
- Chen Y, He Y, DeVivo MJ. 2016. Changing Demographics and Injury Profile of New Traumatic Spinal Cord Injuries in the United States, 1972-2014. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation* 97: 1610-9
- Cheng Z, Zhu W, Cao K, Wu F, Li J, et al. 2016. Anti-Inflammatory Mechanism of Neural Stem Cell Transplantation in Spinal Cord Injury. *International journal of molecular sciences* 17: 1380
- Cheriyan T, Ryan DJ, Weinreb JH, Cheriyan J, Paul JC, et al. 2014. Spinal cord injury models: a review. *Spinal Cord* 52: 588
- Coggrave M, Norton C, Wilson-Barnett J. 2009. Management of neurogenic bowel dysfunction in the community after spinal cord injury: a postal survey in the United Kingdom. *Spinal Cord* 47: 323-30; quiz 31-3
- Colucci V, Strichartz G, Jolesz F, Vykhodtseva N, Hynynen K. 2009. Focused ultrasound effects on nerve action potential in vitro. *Ultrasound in medicine & biology* 35: 1737-47

- Cook SD, Salkeld SL, Popich-Patron LS, Ryaby JP, Jones DG, Barrack RL. 2001. Improved cartilage repair after treatment with low-intensity pulsed ultrasound. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*: S231-43
- Courtine G, Bunge MB, Fawcett JW, Grossman RG, Kaas JH, et al. 2007. Can experiments in nonhuman primates expedite the translation of treatments for spinal cord injury in humans? *Nature Medicine* 13: 561-66
- Courtine G, Gerasimenko Y, van den Brand R, Yew A, Musienko P, et al. 2009. Transformation of nonfunctional spinal circuits into functional states after the loss of brain input. *Nature Neuroscience* 12: 1333-42
- Courtine G, Sofroniew MV. 2019. Spinal cord repair: advances in biology and technology. *Nature Medicine* 25: 898-908
- Cripps RA, Lee BB, Wing P, Weerts E, Mackay J, Brown D. 2011. A global map for traumatic spinal cord injury epidemiology: towards a living data repository for injury prevention. *Spinal Cord* 49: 493-501
- Crisci AR, Ferreira AL. 2002. Low-intensity pulsed ultrasound accelerates the regeneration of the sciatic nerve after neurotomy in rats. *Ultrasound in Medicine & Biology* 28: 1335-41
- Curtis E, Martin JR, Gabel B, Sidhu N, Rzesiewicz TK, et al. 2018. A First-in-Human, Phase I Study of Neural Stem Cell Transplantation for Chronic Spinal Cord Injury. *Cell Stem Cell* 22: 941-50.e6
- Dai H, MacArthur L, McAtee M, Hockenbury N, Tidwell JL, et al. 2009. Activity-Based Therapies To Promote Forelimb Use after a Cervical Spinal Cord Injury. *Journal of neurotrauma* 26: 1719-32
- David Darrow, David Balser, Theoden I. Netoff, Andrei Krassioukov, Aaron Phillips, et al. 2019.
 Epidural Spinal Cord Stimulation Facilitates Immediate Restoration of Dormant Motor and Autonomic Supraspinal Pathways after Chronic Neurologically Complete Spinal Cord Injury. *Journal of Neurotrauma* 36: 2325-36
- Dekundy A, Lundblad M, Danysz W, Cenci MA. 2007. Modulation of L-DOPA-induced abnormal involuntary movements by clinically tested compounds: further validation of the rat dyskinesia model. *Behavioural brain research* 179: 76-89
- Detloff MR, Fisher LC, Deibert RJ, Basso DM. 2012. Acute and chronic tactile sensory testing after spinal cord injury in rats. *J Vis Exp*: e3247
- Develle Y, Leblond H. 2020. Biphasic Effect of Buspirone on the H-Reflex in Acute Spinal Decerebrated Mice. *Front Cell Neurosci* 13: 573-73

- Devivo MJ. 2012. Epidemiology of traumatic spinal cord injury: trends and future implications. *Spinal Cord* 50: 365-72
- DeVivo MJ, Chen Y. 2011. Trends in new injuries, prevalent cases, and aging with spinal cord injury. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation* 92: 332-8
- DeVivo MJ, Go BK, Jackson AB. 2002. Overview of the national spinal cord injury statistical center database. *The journal of spinal cord medicine* 25: 335-8
- Dhavalshankh AG, Jadhav SA, Gaikwad RV, Gaonkar RK, Thorat VM, Balsara JJ. 2007. Effects of buspirone on dopamine dependent behaviours in rats. *Indian journal of physiology and pharmacology* 51: 375-86
- Dominici N, Keller U, Vallery H, Friedli L, van den Brand R, et al. 2012. Versatile robotic interface to evaluate, enable and train locomotion and balance after neuromotor disorders. *Nature Medicine* 18: 1142-47
- Duru PO, Tillakaratne NJK, Kim JA, Zhong H, Stauber SM, et al. 2015. Spinal neuronal activation during locomotor-like activity enabled by epidural stimulation and 5-hydroxytryptamine agonists in spinal rats. J Neurosci Res 93: 1229-39
- Edgerton VR, Courtine G, Gerasimenko YP, Lavrov I, Ichiyama RM, et al. 2008. Training locomotor networks. *Brain Res Rev* 57: 241-54
- Edgerton VR, Roy RR. 2012. A new age for rehabilitation. *European journal of physical and rehabilitation medicine* 48: 99-109
- El-Kheir WA, Gabr H, Awad MR, Ghannam O, Barakat Y, et al. 2014. Autologous bone marrowderived cell therapy combined with physical therapy induces functional improvement in chronic spinal cord injury patients. *Cell transplantation* 23: 729-45
- El-Mowafi H, Mohsen M. 2005. The effect of low-intensity pulsed ultrasound on callus maturation in tibial distraction osteogenesis. *International Orthopaedics* 29: 121-24
- Enwemeka CS, Rodriguez O, Mendosa S. 1990. The biomechanical effects of low-intensity ultrasound on healing tendons. *Ultrasound in Medicine & Biology* 16: 801-07
- Flores-Leal M, Morales-Guadarrama A, Salgado-Ceballos H, Sacristán-Rock E. 2017. Rat spinal cord transection injury progression: an MRI study In VII Latin American Congress on Biomedical Engineering CLAIB 2016, Bucaramanga, Santander, Colombia, October 26th -28th, 2016, ed. I Torres, J Bustamante, DA Sierra, pp. 749-52. Singapore: Springer Singapore
- Formento E, Minassian K, Wagner F, Mignardot JB, Le Goff-Mignardot CG, et al. 2018. Electrical spinal cord stimulation must preserve proprioception to enable locomotion in humans with spinal cord injury. *Nature Neuroscience* 21: 1728-41

- Fouad K, Hurd C, Magnuson DSK. 2013. Functional testing in animal models of spinal cord injury: not as straight forward as one would think. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience* 7: 85
- Fouad K, Rank MM, Vavrek R, Murray KC, Sanelli L, Bennett DJ. 2010. Locomotion After Spinal Cord Injury Depends on Constitutive Activity in Serotonin Receptors. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 104: 2975-84
- Freo U, Pietrini P, Pizzolato G, Furey-Kurkjian M, Merico A, et al. 1995. Dose-dependent effects of buspirone on behavior and cerebral glucose metabolism in rats. *Brain Research* 677: 213-20
- Freund P, Curt A, Friston K, Thompson A. 2012. Tracking Changes following Spinal Cord Injury: Insights from Neuroimaging. *The Neuroscientist* 19: 116-28
- Freyvert Y, Yong NA, Morikawa E, Zdunowski S, Sarino ME, et al. 2018. Engaging cervical spinal circuitry with non-invasive spinal stimulation and buspirone to restore hand function in chronic motor complete patients. *Scientific Reports* 8: 15546
- Fry FJ, Ades HW, Fry WJ. 1958. Production of reversible changes in the central nervous system by ultrasound. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 127: 83-4
- Fry WJ, Wulff VJ, Tucker D, Fry FJ. 1950. Physical Factors Involved in Ultrasonically Induced Changes in Living Systems: I. Identification of Non-Temperature Effects. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 22: 867-76
- G.F.S. 1928. The physical and biological effects of high-frequency sound-waves of great intensity:R. W. Wood and A. L. Loomis. (Phil. Mag., Sept., 1927). *Journal of the Franklin Institute* 205: 151-53
- García-Alías G, Barkhuysen S, Buckle M, Fawcett JW. 2009. Chondroitinase ABC treatment opens a window of opportunity for task-specific rehabilitation. *Nature Neuroscience* 12: 1145-51
- Gensel JC, Zhang B. 2015. Macrophage activation and its role in repair and pathology after spinal cord injury. *Brain Res* 1619: 1-11
- Gerasimenko Y, Gorodnichev R, Moshonkina T, Sayenko D, Gad P, Reggie Edgerton V. 2015. Transcutaneous electrical spinal-cord stimulation in humans. *Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine* 58: 225-31
- Gill ML, Grahn PJ, Calvert JS, Linde MB, Lavrov IA, et al. 2018. Neuromodulation of lumbosacral spinal networks enables independent stepping after complete paraplegia. *Nature Medicine* 24: 1677-82
- Girgis J, Merrett D, Kirkland S, Metz GA, Verge V, Fouad K. 2007. Reaching training in rats with spinal cord injury promotes plasticity and task specific recovery. *Brain : a journal of neurology* 130: 2993-3003

- Giszter SF, Loeb E, Mussa-Ivaldi FA, Bizzi E. 2000. Repeatable spatial maps of a few force and joint torque patterns elicited by microstimulation applied throughout the lumbar spinal cord of the spinal frog. *Human Movement Science* 19: 597-626
- Gomes-Osman J, Field-Fote EC. 2015. Improvements in hand function in adults with chronic tetraplegia following a multiday 10-Hz repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation intervention combined with repetitive task practice. *Journal of neurologic physical therapy* : *JNPT* 39: 23-30
- Gransee HM, Zhan WZ, Sieck GC, Mantilla CB. 2015. Localized delivery of brain-derived neurotrophic factor-expressing mesenchymal stem cells enhances functional recovery following cervical spinal cord injury. *Journal of neurotrauma* 32: 185-93
- Gruner JA. 1992. A monitored contusion model of spinal cord injury in the rat. *Journal of neurotrauma* 9: 123-6; discussion 26-8
- Gu W, Zhang F, Xue Q, Ma Z, Lu P, Yu B. 2010. Transplantation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells reduces lesion volume and induces axonal regrowth of injured spinal cord. *Neuropathology : official journal of the Japanese Society of Neuropathology* 30: 205-17
- Guertin PA. 2012. Central Pattern Generator for Locomotion: Anatomical, Physiological, and Pathophysiological Considerations. *Frontiers in Neurology* 3: 183
- Haleem DJ, Nawaz S, Salman T. 2018. Dose related effects of buspirone on pain, learning / memory and food intake. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology* 99: 182-90
- Halterman MW. 2005. Neuroscience, 3rd Edition. Neurology 64: 769-69-a
- Harkema S, Gerasimenko Y, Hodes J, Burdick J, Angeli C, et al. 2011. Effect of epidural stimulation of the lumbosacral spinal cord on voluntary movement, standing, and assisted stepping after motor complete paraplegia: a case study. *Lancet* 377: 1938-47
- Harvey PJ, Li X, Li Y, Bennett DJ. 2006. 5-HT2 Receptor Activation Facilitates a Persistent Sodium Current and Repetitive Firing in Spinal Motoneurons of Rats With and Without Chronic Spinal Cord Injury. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 96: 1158-70
- Heselmans A. 2020. Research participation for patients with spinal cord injury. *The Lancet* Neurology 19: 109
- Hiyama A, Mochida J, Iwashina T, Omi H, Watanabe T, et al. 2007. Synergistic effect of lowintensity pulsed ultrasound on growth factor stimulation of nucleus pulposus cells. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research* 25: 1574-81
- Hofstoetter US, Freundl B, Binder H, Minassian K. 2018. Common neural structures activated by epidural and transcutaneous lumbar spinal cord stimulation: Elicitation of posterior rootmuscle reflexes. *PloS one* 13: e0192013

- Holinski BJ, Mazurek KA, Everaert DG, Toossi A, Lucas-Osma AM, et al. 2016. Intraspinal microstimulation produces over-ground walking in anesthetized cats. *Journal of neural engineering* 13: 056016
- Huang EJ, Reichardt LF. 2001. Neurotrophins: roles in neuronal development and function. *Annual* review of neuroscience 24: 677-736
- Hutson TH, Kathe C, Palmisano I, Bartholdi K, Hervera A, et al. 2019. Cbp-dependent histone acetylation mediates axon regeneration induced by environmental enrichment in rodent spinal cord injury models. *Science Translational Medicine* 11: eaaw2064
- Hynynen K, McDannold N, Vykhodtseva N, Jolesz FA. 2001. Noninvasive MR imaging-guided focal opening of the blood-brain barrier in rabbits. *Radiology* 220: 640-6
- Ide C, Nakano N, Kanekiyo K. 2016. Cell transplantation for the treatment of spinal cord injury bone marrow stromal cells and choroid plexus epithelial cells. *Neural Regen Res* 11: 1385-88
- Ievins A, Moritz CT. 2017. Therapeutic Stimulation for Restoration of Function After Spinal Cord Injury. *Physiology (Bethesda)* 32: 391-98
- Inanici F, Samejima S, Gad P, Edgerton VR, Hofstetter CP, Moritz CT. 2018. Transcutaneous Electrical Spinal Stimulation Promotes Long-Term Recovery of Upper Extremity Function in Chronic Tetraplegia. *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering* 26: 1272-78
- Inoue T, Lin A, Ma X, McKenna SL, Creasey GH, et al. 2013. Combined SCI and TBI: recovery of forelimb function after unilateral cervical spinal cord injury (SCI) is retarded by contralateral traumatic brain injury (TBI), and ipsilateral TBI balances the effects of SCI on paw placement. *Exp Neurol* 248: 136-47
- Irvine K-A, Ferguson AR, Mitchell KD, Beattie SB, Beattie MS, Bresnahan JC. 2010. A Novel Method for Assessing Proximal and Distal Forelimb Function in the Rat: the Irvine, Beatties and Bresnahan (IBB) Forelimb Scale. *Journal of visualized experiments : JoVE*: 2246
- Iwaniuk AN, Pellis SM, Whishaw IQ. 1999. Is digital dexterity really related to corticospinal projections?: a re-analysis of the Heffner and Masterton data set using modern comparative statistics. *Behavioural brain research* 101: 173-87
- James ND, McMahon SB, Field-Fote EC, Bradbury EJ. 2018. Neuromodulation in the restoration of function after spinal cord injury. *The Lancet. Neurology* 17: 905-17

- Jiang W, Wang Y, Tang J, Peng J, Wang Y, et al. 2016. Low-intensity pulsed ultrasound treatment improved the rate of autograft peripheral nerve regeneration in rat. *Scientific Reports* 6: 22773
- Jin B, Alam M, Garcia-Alias G, Gerasimenko YP, Zhong H, et al. Proceedings of the SFN 45th annual meeting, Chicago, USA., 2015.
- Kalinina NA, Zaitsev AV, Vesselkin NP. 2019. Different Effects of 5-HT1 and 5-HT2 Receptor Agonists on Excitability Modulation of Motoneurons in Frog Spinal Cord. Journal of Evolutionary Biochemistry and Physiology 55: 284-92
- Kanno H, Pearse DD, Ozawa H, Itoi E, Bunge MB. 2015. Schwann cell transplantation for spinal cord injury repair: its significant therapeutic potential and prospectus. *Reviews in the neurosciences* 26: 121-8
- Khankan RR, Griffis KG, Haggerty-Skeans JR, Zhong H, Roy RR, et al. 2016. Olfactory Ensheathing Cell Transplantation after a Complete Spinal Cord Transection Mediates Neuroprotective and Immunomodulatory Mechanisms to Facilitate Regeneration. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 36: 6269-86
- Kiehn O. 2006. Locomotor circuits in the mammalian spinal cord. *Annual review of neuroscience* 29: 279-306
- Kim H, Park MY, Lee SD, Lee W, Chiu A, Yoo S-S. 2015. Suppression of EEG visual-evoked potentials in rats through neuromodulatory focused ultrasound. *NeuroReport* 26: 211-15
- Kim Y-s, Rhim H, Choi MJ, Lim HK, Choi D. 2008. High-intensity focused ultrasound therapy: an overview for radiologists. *Korean journal of radiology* 9: 291-302
- Kjell J, Olson L. 2016. Rat models of spinal cord injury: from pathology to potential therapies. *Dis Model Mech* 9: 1125-37
- Klein A, Sacrey L-AR, Whishaw IQ, Dunnett SB. 2012. The use of rodent skilled reaching as a translational model for investigating brain damage and disease. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews* 36: 1030-42
- Kozyrev N, Staudt MD, Brown A, Coolen LM. 2016. Chronic Contusion Spinal Cord Injury Impairs Ejaculatory Reflexes in Male Rats: Partial Recovery by Systemic Infusions of Dopamine D3 Receptor Agonist 7OHDPAT. *Journal of neurotrauma* 33: 943-53
- Kumru H, Benito-Penalva J, Valls-Sole J, Murillo N, Tormos JM, et al. 2016. Placebo-controlled study of rTMS combined with Lokomat((R)) gait training for treatment in subjects with motor incomplete spinal cord injury. *Experimental brain research* 234: 3447-55
- Kunkel-Bagden E, Dai HN, Bregman BS. 1993. Methods to assess the development and recovery of locomotor function after spinal cord injury in rats. *Experimental neurology* 119: 153-64

- Kwon BK, Streijger F, Hill CE, Anderson AJ, Bacon M, et al. 2015. Large animal and primate models of spinal cord injury for the testing of novel therapies. *Experimental neurology* 269: 154-68
- Lavrov I, Courtine G, Dy CJ, van den Brand R, Fong AJ, et al. 2008. Facilitation of Stepping with Epidural Stimulation in Spinal Rats: Role of Sensory Input. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 28: 7774-80
- Lavrov I, Gerasimenko YP, Ichiyama RM, Courtine G, Zhong H, et al. 2006. Plasticity of Spinal Cord Reflexes After a Complete Transection in Adult Rats: Relationship to Stepping Ability. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 96: 1699-710
- Lee D-H, Lee JK. 2013. Animal models of axon regeneration after spinal cord injury. *Neuroscience Bulletin* 29: 436-44
- Lee W, Lee SD, Park MY, Foley L, Purcell-Estabrook E, et al. 2016. Image-Guided Focused Ultrasound-Mediated Regional Brain Stimulation in Sheep. *Ultrasound in medicine & biology* 42: 459-70
- Legon W, Sato TF, Opitz A, Mueller J, Barbour A, et al. 2014. Transcranial focused ultrasound modulates the activity of primary somatosensory cortex in humans. *Nature Neuroscience* 17: 322-29
- Lehmann JF. 1953. The Biophysical Mode of Action of Biologic and Therapeutic Ultrasonic Reactions. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 25: 17-25
- Leinenga G, Langton C, Nisbet R, Götz J. 2016. Ultrasound treatment of neurological diseases current and emerging applications. *Nature Reviews Neurology* 12: 161-74
- Leydeker M, Delva S, Tserlyuk I, Yau J, Wagdy M, et al. 2013. The effects of 15 Hz trans-spinal magnetic stimulation on locomotor control in mice with chronic contusive spinal cord injury. *Electromagnetic Biology and Medicine* 32: 155-64
- Li G-F, Zhao H-X, Zhou H, Yan F, Wang J-Y, et al. 2016. Improved Anatomical Specificity of Non-invasive Neuro-stimulation by High Frequency (5 MHz) Ultrasound. *Scientific Reports* 6: 24738
- Li S, Alam M, Ahmed RU, Zhong H, Wang X-Y, et al. 2020. Ultrasound-driven piezoelectric current activates spinal cord neurocircuits and restores locomotion in rats with spinal cord injury. *Bioelectronic Medicine* 6: 13
- Lima R, Monteiro S, Lopes JP, Barradas P, Vasconcelos NL, et al. 2017. Systemic Interleukin-4 Administration after Spinal Cord Injury Modulates Inflammation and Promotes Neuroprotection. *Pharmaceuticals (Basel, Switzerland)* 10: 83

- Liu J, Jordan LM. 2005. Stimulation of the Parapyramidal Region of the Neonatal Rat Brain Stem Produces Locomotor-Like Activity Involving Spinal 5-HT7 and 5-HT2A Receptors. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 94: 1392-404
- Liu R, Chang W, Wei H, Zhang K. 2016. Comparison of the Biological Characteristics of Mesenchymal Stem Cells Derived from Bone Marrow and Skin. Stem Cells International 2016: 3658798
- Liu WM, Wu JY, Li FC, Chen QX. 2011. Ion channel blockers and spinal cord injury. *J Neurosci Res* 89: 791-801
- Loane C, Politis M. 2012. Buspirone: What is it all about? Brain Research 1461: 111-18
- Lu DC, Edgerton VR, Modaber M, AuYong N, Morikawa E, et al. 2016. Engaging Cervical Spinal Cord Networks to Reenable Volitional Control of Hand Function in Tetraplegic Patients. *Neurorehabilitation and neural repair* 30: 951-62
- Lukovic D, Moreno-Manzano V, Lopez-Mocholi E, Rodriguez-Jiménez FJ, Jendelova P, et al. 2015. Complete rat spinal cord transection as a faithful model of spinal cord injury for translational cell transplantation. *Scientific Reports* 5: 9640
- Lundblad M, Usiello A, Carta M, Håkansson K, Fisone G, Cenci MA. 2005. Pharmacological validation of a mouse model of 1-DOPA-induced dyskinesia. *Experimental Neurology* 194: 66-75
- Lv Y, Zhao P, Chen G, Sha Y, Yang L. 2013. Effects of low-intensity pulsed ultrasound on cell viability, proliferation and neural differentiation of induced pluripotent stem cells-derived neural crest stem cells. *Biotechnology Letters* 35: 2201-12
- Marques SA, Garcez VF, Del Bel EA, Martinez AMB. 2009. A simple, inexpensive and easily reproducible model of spinal cord injury in mice: Morphological and functional assessment. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods* 177: 183-93
- Matthew ED, Stephen AL, Georgiana Y, Seaok K, Qi W, Elisa EK. 2018. Non-invasive peripheral nerve stimulation via focused ultrasound in vivo. *Physics in Medicine & Biology* 63: 035011
- Mautes AE, Weinzierl MR, Donovan F, Noble LJ. 2000. Vascular Events After Spinal Cord Injury: Contribution to Secondary Pathogenesis. *Physical Therapy* 80: 673-87
- Maynard FM, Reynolds GG, Fountain S, Wilmot C, Hamilton R. 1979. Neurological prognosis after traumatic quadriplegia. 50: 611
- McCanney GA, Whitehead MJ, McGrath MA, Lindsay SL, Barnett SC. 2017. Neural cell cultures to study spinal cord injury. *Drug Discovery Today: Disease Models* 25-26: 11-20

- McKenna JE, Prusky GT, Whishaw IQ. 2000. Cervical motoneuron topography reflects the proximodistal organization of muscles and movements of the rat forelimb: a retrograde carbocyanine dye analysis. *The Journal of comparative neurology* 419: 286-96
- Mehić E, Xu JM, Caler CJ, Coulson NK, Moritz CT, Mourad PD. 2014. Increased Anatomical Specificity of Neuromodulation via Modulated Focused Ultrasound. *PLoS One* 9: e86939
- Mendonca MV, Larocca TF, de Freitas Souza BS, Villarreal CF, Silva LF, et al. 2014. Safety and neurological assessments after autologous transplantation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in subjects with chronic spinal cord injury. *Stem cell research & therapy* 5: 126
- Metz GA, Curt A, van de Meent H, Klusman I, Schwab ME, Dietz V. 2000. Validation of the weight-drop contusion model in rats: a comparative study of human spinal cord injury. *Journal of neurotrauma* 17: 1-17
- Metz GA, Whishaw IQ. 2002. Cortical and subcortical lesions impair skilled walking in the ladder rung walking test: a new task to evaluate fore- and hindlimb stepping, placing, and co-ordination. *J Neurosci Methods* 115: 169-79
- Meyer OA, Tilson HA, Byrd WC, Riley MT. 1979. A method for the routine assessment of foreand hindlimb grip strength of rats and mice. *Neurobehav Toxicol* 1: 233-6
- Minassian K, Hofstoetter U, Tansey K, Mayr W. 2012. Neuromodulation of lower limb motor control in restorative neurology. *Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery* 114: 489-97
- Monteiro S, Salgado A, Silva N. 2018. Immunomodulation as a neuroprotective strategy after spinal cord injury. *Neural Regeneration Research* 13: 423-24
- Moonen G, Satkunendrarajah K, Wilcox JT, Badner A, Mothe A, et al. 2016. A New Acute Impact-Compression Lumbar Spinal Cord Injury Model in the Rodent. *Journal of neurotrauma* 33: 278-89
- Moreno-López Y, Olivares-Moreno R, Cordero-Erausquin M, Rojas-Piloni G. 2016. Sensorimotor Integration by Corticospinal System. *Frontiers in Neuroanatomy* 10
- Mueller J, Legon W, Opitz A, Sato TF, Tyler WJ. 2014. Transcranial Focused Ultrasound Modulates Intrinsic and Evoked EEG Dynamics. *Brain Stimulation* 7: 900-08
- Muir GD, Webb AA. 2000. Mini-review: assessment of behavioural recovery following spinal cord injury in rats. *The European journal of neuroscience* 12: 3079-86
- Muir GD, Whishaw IQ. 1999. Complete locomotor recovery following corticospinal tract lesions: measurement of ground reaction forces during overground locomotion in rats. *Behavioural brain research* 103: 45-53

- Musienko P, van den Brand R, Märzendorfer O, Roy RR, Gerasimenko Y, et al. 2011. Controlling Specific Locomotor Behaviors through Multidimensional Monoaminergic Modulation of Spinal Circuitries. *The Journal of Neuroscience* 31: 9264-78
- Nagoshi N, Okano H. 2017. Applications of induced pluripotent stem cell technologies in spinal cord injury. *Journal of neurochemistry* 141: 848-60
- Nakagawa K, Nakazawa K. 2018. Static magnetic field stimulation applied over the cervical spinal cord can decrease corticospinal excitability in finger muscle. *Clinical Neurophysiology Practice* 3: 49-53
- Nakajima H, Uchida K, Guerrero AR, Watanabe S, Sugita D, et al. 2012. Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells promotes an alternative pathway of macrophage activation and functional recovery after spinal cord injury. *Journal of neurotrauma* 29: 1614-25
- Naor O, Krupa S, Shoham S. 2016. Ultrasonic neuromodulation. *Journal of neural engineering* 13: 031003
- Nardone R, Höller Y, Thomschewski A, Höller P, Lochner P, et al. 2015. Serotonergic transmission after spinal cord injury. *Journal of Neural Transmission* 122: 279-95
- Nas K, Yazmalar L, Şah V, Aydın A, Öneş K. 2015. Rehabilitation of spinal cord injuries. *World journal of orthopedics* 6: 8-16
- Newton BW, Hamill RW. 1988. The morphology and distribution of rat serotoninergic intraspinal neurons: An immunohistochemical study. *Brain research bulletin* 20: 349-60
- Ni X-J, Wang X-D, Zhao Y-H, Sun H-L, Hu Y-M, et al. 2017. The Effect of Low-Intensity Ultrasound on Brain-Derived Neurotropic Factor Expression in a Rat Sciatic Nerve Crushed Injury Model. *Ultrasound in Medicine & Biology* 43: 461-68
- Nolte PA, van der Krans A, Patka P, Janssen IMC, Ryaby JP, Albers GHR. 2001. Low-Intensity Pulsed Ultrasound in the Treatment of Nonunions. *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery* 51: 693-703
- NSCISC. 2016. National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center. Spinal cord injury (SCI) facts and figures at a glance.
- Obrenovitch TP, Urenjak J. 1997. Is high extracellular glutamate the key to excitotoxicity in traumatic brain injury? *J Neurotrauma* 14: 677-98
- Olson L. 2013. Combinatory treatments needed for spinal cord injury. *Experimental Neurology* 248: 309-15
- Pantovic R, Draganic P, Erakovic V, Blagovic B, Milin C, Simonic A. 2005. Effect of indomethacin on motor activity and spinal cord free fatty acid content after experimental spinal cord injury in rabbits. *Spinal Cord* 43: 519-26

- Parag Gad SL, Nicholas Terrafranca, Hui Zhong, Amanda Turner, Yury Gerasimenko, and V. Reggie Edgerton. 2018. Non-Invasive Activation of Cervical Spinal Networks after Severe Paralysis. *Journal of Neurotrauma* 35: 2145-58
- Patel S, H Cox D, Gollihue J, M Bailey W, Geldenhuys W, et al. 2017. *Pioglitazone treatment following spinal cord injury maintains acute mitochondrial integrity and increases chronic tissue sparing and functional recovery.*
- Peroutka SJ. 1985. Selective interaction of novel anxiolytics with 5-hydroxytryptamine1A receptors. *Biological Psychiatry* 20: 971-79
- Piecharka DM, Kleim JA, Whishaw IQ. 2005. Limits on recovery in the corticospinal tract of the rat: Partial lesions impair skilled reaching and the topographic representation of the forelimb in motor cortex. *Brain research bulletin* 66: 203-11
- Pineau I, Lacroix S. 2007. Proinflammatory cytokine synthesis in the injured mouse spinal cord: multiphasic expression pattern and identification of the cell types involved. *The Journal of comparative neurology* 500: 267-85
- Pinzon A, Marcillo A, Quintana A, Stamler S, Bunge MB, et al. 2008. A re-assessment of minocycline as a neuroprotective agent in a rat spinal cord contusion model. *Brain Research* 1243: 146-51
- Plunet W, Kwon BK, Tetzlaff W. 2002. Promoting axonal regeneration in the central nervous system by enhancing the cell body response to axotomy. *Journal of neuroscience research* 68: 1-6
- Poon PC, Gupta D, Shoichet MS, Tator CH. 2007. Clip Compression Model Is Useful for Thoracic Spinal Cord Injuries: Histologic and Functional Correlates. *Spine* 32: 2853-59
- Qiu J. 2009. China spinal cord injury network: changes from within. *The Lancet Neurology* 8: 606-07
- Raineteau O, Schwab ME. 2001. Plasticity of motor systems after incomplete spinal cord injury. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience* 2: 263-73
- Ranck JB, Jr. 1975. Which elements are excited in electrical stimulation of mammalian central nervous system: a review. *Brain Res* 98: 417-40
- Rankin KC, O'Brien LC, Segal L, Khan MR, Gorgey AS. 2017. Liver Adiposity and Metabolic Profile in Individuals with Chronic Spinal Cord Injury. *BioMed Research International* 2017: 1364818
- Renaud Jeffrey-Gauthier, Nicolas Josset, Bretzner F, Leblond aH. 2018. Facilitation of Locomotor Spinal Networks Activity by Buspirone after a Complete Spinal Cord Lesion in Mice. Journal of Neurotrauma 35: 2208-21

- Rigosa J, Panarese A, Dominici N, Friedli L, van den Brand R, et al. 2015. Decoding bipedal locomotion from the rat sensorimotor cortex. *Journal of neural engineering* 12: 056014
- Rivlin AS, Tator CH. 1978. Effect of duration of acute spinal cord compression in a new acute cord injury model in the rat. *Surg Neurol* 10: 38-43
- Robert FD, Kelsie FT, Stephen H, Jeremy G, Lopes MB, et al. 2018. Noninvasive neuromodulation and thalamic mapping with low-intensity focused ultrasound. *Journal of Neurosurgery JNS* 128: 875-84
- Rodionov A, Savolainen S, Kirveskari E, Mäkelä JP, Shulga A. 2019. Restoration of hand function with long-term paired associative stimulation after chronic incomplete tetraplegia: a case study. *Spinal Cord Series and Cases* 5: 81
- Rolls A, Shechter R, Schwartz M. 2009. The bright side of the glial scar in CNS repair. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 10: 235-41
- Sabbah M, Behfar A. 2020. Erasing Paralysis. Mayo Clinic Proceedings 95: 224-25
- Saffari N, Wright CJ, Rothwell J. 2017. Ultrasound neuro-stimulation effects of peripheral axons in-vitro. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 142: 2668-68
- Salinas M, Diaz R, Abraham NG, Ruiz de Galarreta CM, Cuadrado A. 2003. Nerve growth factor protects against 6-hydroxydopamine-induced oxidative stress by increasing expression of heme oxygenase-1 in a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-dependent manner. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 278: 13898-904
- Satti HS, Waheed A, Ahmed P, Ahmed K, Akram Z, et al. 2016. Autologous mesenchymal stromal cell transplantation for spinal cord injury: A Phase I pilot study. *Cytotherapy* 18: 518-22
- Sayenko DG, Atkinson DA, Floyd TC, Gorodnichev RM, Moshonkina TR, et al. 2015. Effects of paired transcutaneous electrical stimulation delivered at single and dual sites over lumbosacral spinal cord. *Neuroscience letters* 609: 229-34
- Scheff SW, Rabchevsky AG, Fugaccia I, Main JA, Lumpp JE, Jr. 2003. Experimental modeling of spinal cord injury: characterization of a force-defined injury device. *Journal of neurotrauma* 20: 179-93
- Schmidt BJ, Jordan LM. 2000. The role of serotonin in reflex modulation and locomotor rhythm production in the mammalian spinal cord. *Brain research bulletin* 53: 689-710
- Schomburg ED. 1990. Spinal sensorimotor systems and their supraspinal control. *Neuroscience Research* 7: 265-340
- Schwab ME, Bartholdi D. 1996. Degeneration and regeneration of axons in the lesioned spinal cord. *Physiological reviews* 76: 319-70

- Schwan HP. 1956. The biophysical basis of physical medicine. *Journal of the American Medical* Association 160: 191-97
- Sedy J, Urdzikova L, Jendelova P, Sykova E. 2008. Methods for behavioral testing of spinal cord injured rats. *Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews* 32: 550-80
- Shah PK, Gerasimenko Y, Shyu A, Lavrov I, Zhong H, et al. 2012. Variability in step training enhances locomotor recovery after a spinal cord injury. *Eur J Neurosci* 36: 2054-62
- Sharif-Alhoseini M, Khormali M, Rezaei M, Safdarian M, Hajighadery A, et al. 2017. Animal models of spinal cord injury: a systematic review. *Spinal Cord* 55: 714-21
- Sharif-Alhoseini M, Rahimi-Movaghar V. 2014. Animal Models in Traumatic Spinal Cord Injury.
- Shealy C, Henneman E. 1962. Reversible effects of ultrasound on spinal reflexes. Archives of Neurology 6: 374-86
- Shealy CN, Mortimer JT, Hagfors NR. 1970. Dorsal column electroanalgesia. *Journal of neurosurgery* 32: 560-4
- Shealy CN, Mortimer JT, Reswick JB. 1967. Electrical inhibition of pain by stimulation of the dorsal columns: preliminary clinical report. *Anesthesia and analgesia* 46: 489-91
- Shireen E, Haleem DJ. 2005. Motor effects of buspirone: Relationship with dopamine and serotonin in the striatum. *Journal of the College of Physicians and Surgeons--Pakistan : JCPSP* 15: 753-6
- Singh A, Tetreault L, Kalsi-Ryan S, Nouri A, Fehlings MG. 2014. Global prevalence and incidence of traumatic spinal cord injury. *Clinical epidemiology* 6: 309-31
- Sławińska U, Majczyński H, Dai Y, Jordan LM. 2012. The upright posture improves plantar stepping and alters responses to serotonergic drugs in spinal rats. *The Journal of physiology* 590: 1721-36
- Sławińska U, Miazga K, Cabaj AM, Leszczyńska AN, Majczyński H, et al. 2013. Grafting of fetal brainstem 5-HT neurons into the sublesional spinal cord of paraplegic rats restores coordinated hindlimb locomotion. *Experimental Neurology* 247: 572-81
- Sriraman A, Oishi T, Madhavan S. 2014. Timing-dependent priming effects of tDCS on ankle motor skill learning. *Brain Res* 1581: 23-9
- Starkey ML, Bleul C, Maier IC, Schwab ME. 2011. Rehabilitative training following unilateral pyramidotomy in adult rats improves forelimb function in a non-task-specific way. *Experimental neurology* 232: 81-9
- Steward O, Willenberg R. 2017. Rodent spinal cord injury models for studies of axon regeneration. *Experimental neurology* 287: 374-83

- Stiens SA, Bergman SB, Goetz LL. 1997. Neurogenic bowel dysfunction after spinal cord injury: clinical evaluation and rehabilitative management. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation* 78: S86-102
- Sun G-d, Chen Y, Zhou Z-g, Yang S-x, Zhong C, Li Z-z. 2017. A progressive compression model of thoracic spinal cord injury in mice: function assessment and pathological changes in spinal cord. *Neural Regeneration Research* 12: 1365-74
- Sunshine MD, Cho FS, Lockwood DR, Fechko AS, Kasten MR, Moritz CT. 2013. Cervical intraspinal microstimulation evokes robust forelimb movements before and after injury. *Journal of neural engineering* 10: 036001
- Takagi SF, Higashino S, Shibuya T, Osawa N. 1960. The actions of ultrasound on the myelinated nerve, the spinal cord and the brain. *Jpn J Physiol* 10: 183-93
- Tator CH, Poon P. 2009. Acute Clip Impact-Compression Model In Animal Models of Acute Neurological Injuries, ed. J Chen, ZC Xu, X-M Xu, JH Zhang, pp. 449-60. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press
- Thuret S, Moon LDF, Gage FH. 2006. Therapeutic interventions after spinal cord injury. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 7: 628-43
- Tufail Y, Matyushov A, Baldwin N, Tauchmann ML, Georges J, et al. 2010. Transcranial Pulsed Ultrasound Stimulates Intact Brain Circuits. *Neuron* 66: 681-94
- Tych RE, Gofeld M, Jarvik JG, Kliot M, Loeser JD, et al. 2013. Neuropathic Tissue Responds Preferentially to Stimulation by Intense Focused Ultrasound. *Ultrasound in Medicine & Biology* 39: 111-16
- Tyler WJ, Lani SW, Hwang GM. 2018. Ultrasonic modulation of neural circuit activity. *Current* Opinion in Neurobiology 50: 222-31
- Tyler WJ, Tufail Y, Finsterwald M, Tauchmann ML, Olson EJ, Majestic C. 2008. Remote excitation of neuronal circuits using low-intensity, low-frequency ultrasound. *PloS one* 3: e3511-e11
- van den Berg ME, Castellote JM, Mahillo-Fernandez I, de Pedro-Cuesta J. 2010. Incidence of spinal cord injury worldwide: a systematic review. *Neuroepidemiology* 34: 184-92; discussion 92
- van den Brand R, Heutschi J, Barraud Q, DiGiovanna J, Bartholdi K, et al. 2012. Restoring Voluntary Control of Locomotion after Paralyzing Spinal Cord Injury. *Science* 336: 1182-85

- van Gorp S, Leerink M, Nguyen S, Platoshyn O, Marsala M, Joosten EA. 2014. Translation of the rat thoracic contusion model; part 2 forward versus backward locomotion testing. *Spinal Cord* 52: 529
- Wagner FB, Mignardot J-B, Le Goff-Mignardot CG, Demesmaeker R, Komi S, et al. 2018. Targeted neurotechnology restores walking in humans with spinal cord injury. *Nature* 563: 65-71
- Walker CL, Xu X-M. 2012. Morphological Assessments Following Spinal Cord Injury In Animal Models of Acute Neurological Injuries II: Injury and Mechanistic Assessments, Volume 2, ed. J Chen, X-M Xu, ZC Xu, JH Zhang, pp. 405-16. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press
- Wang F, Huang S-L, He X-J, Li X-H. 2014. Determination of the ideal rat model for spinal cord injury by diffusion tensor imaging. *Neuroreport* 25: 1386-92
- Watson C, Kayalioglu G. 2009. Chapter 1 The Organization of the Spinal Cord In *The Spinal Cord*, ed. C Watson, G Paxinos, G Kayalioglu, pp. 1-7. San Diego: Academic Press
- Wei F-Y, Leung K-S, Li G, Qin J, Chow SK-H, et al. 2014a. Low intensity pulsed ultrasound enhanced mesenchymal stem cell recruitment through stromal derived factor-1 signaling in fracture healing. *PLoS One* 9: e106722-e22
- Wei K, Glaser JI, Deng L, Thompson CK, Stevenson IH, et al. 2014b. Serotonin Affects Movement Gain Control in the Spinal Cord. *The Journal of Neuroscience* 34: 12690
- Whishaw IQ. 2000. Loss of the innate cortical engram for action patterns used in skilled reaching and the development of behavioral compensation following motor cortex lesions in the rat. *Neuropharmacology* 39: 788-805
- Whishaw IQ, Gorny B, Foroud A, Kleim JA. 2003a. Long–Evans and Sprague–Dawley rats have similar skilled reaching success and limb representations in motor cortex but different movements: some cautionary insights into the selection of rat strains for neurobiological motor research. *Behavioural Brain Research* 145: 221-32
- Whishaw IQ, Pellis SM, Gorny B, Kolb B, Tetzlaff W. 1993. Proximal and distal impairments in rat forelimb use in reaching follow unilateral pyramidal tract lesions. *Behavioural brain research* 56: 59-76
- Whishaw IQ, Piecharka DM, Drever FR. 2003b. Complete and partial lesions of the pyramidal tract in the rat affect qualitative measures of skilled movements: impairment in fixations as a model for clumsy behavior. *Neural plasticity* 10: 77-92
- Whishaw IQ, Tomie J-A. 1989. Olfaction directs skilled forelimb reaching in the rat. *Behavioural Brain Research* 32: 11-21

- Yoo S-S, Bystritsky A, Lee J-H, Zhang Y, Fischer K, et al. 2011. Focused ultrasound modulates region-specific brain activity. *NeuroImage* 56: 1267-75
- Younan Y, Deffieux T, Larrat B, Fink M, Tanter M, Aubry J-F. 2013. Influence of the pressure field distribution in transcranial ultrasonic neurostimulation. *Medical Physics* 40: 082902
- Young W. 2002. Spinal cord contusion models. Progress in brain research 137: 231-55
- Young W. 2009. MASCIS Spinal Cord Contusion Model In *Animal Models of Acute Neurological Injuries*, ed. J Chen, ZC Xu, X-M Xu, JH Zhang, pp. 411-21. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press
- Yuan Y, Yan J, Ma Z, Li X. 2016. Effect of noninvasive focused ultrasound stimulation on gamma oscillations in rat hippocampus. *NeuroReport* 27: 508-15
- Yury P. Gerasimenko DCL, Morteza Modaber, Sharon Zdunowski, Parag Gad, Dimitry G. Sayenko, Erika Morikawa, Piia Haakana, Adam R. Ferguson, Roland R. Roy, and V. Reggie Edgerton. 2015. Noninvasive Reactivation of Motor Descending Control after Paralysis. *Journal of Neurotrauma* 32: 1968-80
- Zhang H, Lin X, Wan H, Li J-H, Li J-M. 2009. Effect of low-intensity pulsed ultrasound on the expression of neurotrophin-3 and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in cultured Schwann cells. *Microsurgery* 29: 479-85
- Zhang N, Chow SK, Leung KS, Cheung WH. 2017a. Ultrasound as a stimulus for musculoskeletal disorders. *Journal of orthopaedic translation* 9: 52-59
- Zhang N, Fang M, Chen H, Gou F, Ding M. 2014. Evaluation of spinal cord injury animal models. *Neural Regeneration Research* 9: 2008-12
- Zhang Q, Lenardo MJ, Baltimore D. 2017b. 30 Years of NF-kappaB: A Blossoming of Relevance to Human Pathobiology. *Cell* 168: 37-57
- Zhao RR, Andrews MR, Wang D, Warren P, Gullo M, et al. 2013. Combination treatment with anti-Nogo-A and chondroitinase ABC is more effective than single treatments at enhancing functional recovery after spinal cord injury. *The European journal of neuroscience* 38: 2946-61
- Zimmermann JB, Seki K, Jackson A. 2011. Reanimating the arm and hand with intraspinal microstimulation. *Journal of neural engineering* 8: 054001